

Consensus Statements for Evaluation and Management of **Psoriatic Arthritis** in UAE



Authors

Khalid A. Alnaqbi^{1,2}, Saud Hannawi^{3, 4}, Rajaie Namas⁵, Waleed Alshehhi⁶, Humeira Badsha⁷, Jamal Al-Saleh⁸

- 1. Department of Rheumatology, Tawam Hospital, Al Ain, UAE
- 2. College of Medicine and Health Sciences, UAE University, Al Ain, UAE
- 3. Emirates Health Services (EHS), Dubai, UAE
- 4. Ministry of Health and Prevention, Dubai, UAE
- 5. Division of Rheumatology, Department of Internal Medicine, Cleveland Clinic Abu Dhabi, UAE
- 6. Medcare Hospital, Dubai, UAE
- 7. Dr. Humeira Badsha Medical Center, Dubai, UAE
- 8. Dubai Hospital, Dubai, UAE

Corresponding Author:

Dr. Khalid Alnaqbi, MD, MSc, FRCPC

Consultant & Chief of Rheumatology, Tawam hospital, Al Ain, UAE

Email: kalnaqbi@gmail.com, ORCID ID (https://orcid.org/0000-0001-5875-4663), Scopus ID: 55905873900

Emirates Society for Rheumatology

K.I.T. Group Middle East FZ LLC PO BOX 77893 Abu Dhabi, UAE Email: esrmeeting@esr.ae Website: www.esr.ae

Table of contents

| 1 | Abstract | | | |
|---|-----------------------------|---|----|--|
| 2 | Intr | Introduction | | |
| 3 | Met | hods | 5 | |
| | 3.1 | Targeted literature review | 5 | |
| 4 | Resu | lts | 6 | |
| | 4.1 | Overarching principles | 6 | |
| | 4.2 | Evaluation of patients with PsA | 7 | |
| 5 | Non- | pharmacological therapies | 10 | |
| 6 | Treatment options | | | |
| | 6.1 | Pharmacological therapies | 13 | |
| | 6.2 | Dosage and Administration: | 13 | |
| | | 6.2.1 NSAIDs | 13 | |
| | | 6.2.2 GCCs | 13 | |
| | | 6.2.3 Conventional synthetic DMARDs | 13 | |
| | | 6.2.4 Targeted synthetic DMARDs | 14 | |
| | | 6.2.5 Biological agents | 14 | |
| | | 6.2.6 Biosimilars | 15 | |
| | 6.3 | Treatment recommendations based on PsA domains | 17 | |
| | | 6.3.1 Peripheral arthritis | 17 | |
| | | 6.3.2 Axial disease | 17 | |
| | | 6.3.3 Enthesitis | 18 | |
| | | 6.3.4 Dactylitis | 18 | |
| | | 6.3.5 Nail disease | 18 | |
| | | 6.3.6 Skin disease | 18 | |
| 7 | Effica | acy and safety PsA therapies | 20 | |
| | 7.1 | Treatment response | 20 | |
| | 7.2 | Efficacy and safety of non-biologic pharmacological therapies | 20 | |
| | 7.3 | Efficacy and safety of biologic pharmacological therapies | 22 | |
| | 7.4 | Treatment failure and switching therapy | 24 | |
| 8 | Mon | itoring | 25 | |
| 9 | Management of Comorbidities | | | |
| | 9.1 | 9.1 Cardiovascular disease | | |
| | 9.2 | 2 Obesity and metabolic syndrome | | |
| | 9.3 | 9.3 Hypercholesterolemia | | |

Table of contents

| 9.4 | Hypertension | 27 | |
|-----------------|----------------------------|----|--|
| 9.5 | Diabetes mellitus | 27 | |
| 9.6 | Inflammatory bowel disease | 27 | |
| 9.7 | Uveitis | 27 | |
| 9.8 | Depression | 28 | |
| 9.9 | Hyperuricemia and gout | 28 | |
| 9.10 | Hypothyroidism | 28 | |
| 9.11 | Osteoporosis | 28 | |
| 9.12 | Malignancy | 28 | |
| 9.13 | Fatty liver disease | 28 | |
| 9.14 | Chronic kidney disease | 28 | |
| 9.15 | Serious infections | 28 | |
| 9.16 | Immunization | 28 | |
| Conclusion | | 30 | |
| Acknowledgments | | 30 | |
| Refer | References | | |
| | | | |

1. Abstract

Objective: Psoriatic arthritis (PsA) is a chronic inflammatory disease characterized by diverse clinical presentations, with varied articular and dermatological manifestations. PsA adversely impacts the physical function, work productivity and social life of affected patients. In United Arab Emirates (UAE), there is an unmet need of region-specific recommendations for assessment and management of PsA. This article aims at developing consensus recommendations for the assessment, management of the various clinical manifestations of PsA in UAE population.

Methods: An extensive literature review of the current international and regional guidelines and the related literature on the assessment, management, monitoring requirements for PsA therapies and management of comorbid conditions in patients with PsA was performed. Key highlights of these guidelines and articles were reviewed by a panel of experts at an advisory board meeting to identify unmet need, bridge clinical gaps in the UAE, and develop consensus statements for evaluation and management of patients with PsA.

Results: The consensus statements were developed on the overarching principles for the management of PsA, evaluation of patients with PsA, non-pharmacological and pharmacological approaches for the management of PsA, management of comorbid conditions in patients with PsA and monitoring requirements for PsA therapies. The overarching principles included adopting a targeted, and multidisciplinary approach, along with collaboration between the rheumatologists and dermatologists in case of clinically significant skin involvement. The

panel also highlighted the value of composite disease severity measures for characterizing the clinical manifestations of PsA. In terms of non-pharmacological management approaches, life-style modification comprising of dietary changes, exercise, cessation of smoking, and psychotherapy was recommended. The consensus recommendations encompassed the use of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory agents, glucocorticoids, conventional disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs, and biologics for the treatment of various domains within PsA, including peripheral arthritis, axial disease, enthesitis, dactylitis, psoriasis, and nail disease. Expert panel emphasized on importance of monitoring requirements and based on international guidelines, evidence from literature and local practices, there was agreement among the experts with regard to appropriate laboratory tests for monitoring PsA therapies. Consensus statements for the management of common comorbidities associated with PsA, including cardiovascular disease, obesity, metabolic syndrome, hypercholesterolemia, hypertension, diabetes mellitus, chronic kidney disease, malignancy, osteoporosis, non-alcoholic fatty liver disease, depression, was developed.

Conclusion: This consensus recommendation can guide the physicians and healthcare professionals in UAE for making proper treatment decisions, as well as, efficiently managing comorbidities and monitoring PsA patients.

Keywords: Psoriatic arthritis, severity, assessment, non-pharmacological, pharmacological, monitoring, comorbidities, guidelines.

2. Introduction

Psoriatic arthritis (PsA) is an autoimmune disorder characterized by chronic inflammation of the skin and joints, affecting approximately 2%–3% of the general population.¹ The global prevalence of PsA varies by geographic region and ranges from 0.001% to 0.42%,²⁻⁴ while the prevalence of PsA is 0.01% to 0.3% in Middle East countries^{5, 6} Evidence of nail dystrophy, scalp lesions, intragluteal and/or perianal lesions, involvement of >3 sites, male sex, family history of PsA⁷⁻⁹ are factors that contribute to an increased risk of development of PsA in patients with psoriasis. Approximately 20% of patients diagnosed with PsA may develop a more aggressive form of arthritis resulting in joint damage (Figure 1).⁴ Studies have shown that in many patients, PsA may progress to erosive disease in as early as 2 years after onset.¹⁰

Figure 1: Prevalence of Psoriatic Arthritis: Global and Regional Data²⁻⁶

PsA is a **chronic**, **progressive inflammatory arthritis** that is common among people living with psoriasis and **may result in permanent joint damage and disability**¹.

The global prevalence of PsA varies by geographic region and ranges from 0.001% to 0.42%,²⁻⁴ while the prevalence of PsA is 0.01% to 0.3% in Middle East countries.^{5, 6}

Men and women are equally at risk¹

Approximately **20%** of patients diagnosed with PsA may develop a more aggressive form of arthritis resulting in joint damage.⁴

Patients with PsA are known to have a lower quality of life (QoL) as a result of stress, depression, mood

changes, pain, and compromised physical functioning (Figure 2).^{11, 12}

Figure 2: Effects of Psoriatic Arthritis on Quality of Life of Affected Patients^{11, 12}



Additionally, inflammatory pathways linked to the development of PsA may also be associated with comorbidities such as cardiovascular disease, obesity, type 2 diabetes mellitus, metabolic syndrome, hyperlipidemia, hypertension, nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD), hyperuricemia, gout, Crohn's disease, among others (Figure 3).¹¹⁻¹⁵

Figure 3: Common Comorbid Conditions Associated with Psoriatic Arthritis¹¹⁻¹⁵



Therapeutic decisions in PsA are guided by a patient-centric approach in collaboration with dermatologists, primarily aimed at addressing disease activity, comorbidities, structural damage, and patient-reported outcomes.^{16, 17} Considering the heterogeneity in the clinical manifestations of PsA, it is important to ensure standardized treatment practices to assist practicing physicians, rheumatologists, and dermatologists.

Nearly all the current treatment recommendations in place for PsA are reflective of the treatment and disease landscape in developed countries, particularly Europe and the United States.¹⁸⁻²⁰ Currently, not much is known about the epidemiology and treatment practices specific to PsA in the Middle East. There are several local challenges that may not be adequately accounted for in currently available treatment recommendations for PsA.²¹

Multiple factors necessitate national recommendations for the management of PsA specific to the United Arab Emirates (UAE), including wide variability in healthcare systems, patient access to advanced care, affordability of treatment, practicing rheumatologists trained in different countries and implementing different approaches to treatment, and ethnic diversities among patients from almost 200 countries in the UAE. Many of the newer approved therapies such as biological disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs (DMARDs) may not be accessible to patients who do not have insurance coverage, given their prohibitive cost. Other factors that preclude the implementation of global treatment recommendations in local clinical practice are lack of disease awareness among both patients and health care providers, shortage of health care resources, and lack of multidisciplinary health care clinics.²²

The objectives of this article are to address the gaps in clinical practice recommendations for the assessment and treatment of PsA in the UAE and to develop consensus statements for the evaluation, nonpharmacological and pharmacological management of PsA and associated comorbidities and monitoring requirements of PsA therapies, to assist practicing physicians in the UAE.

3. Methods

Six experts from the Emirates Society for Rheumatology representing different health care sectors of the UAE set up advisory board meetings to develop the consensus guidelines. The panel reviewed international and regional guidelines to determine clinical gaps in the evaluation and management of patients with PsA, and development of consensus statements centered around the identified gaps for the UAE.

3.1 Targeted literature review

For the development of the consensus guidelines, 6 experts with international board-certifications, and more than 15 years' experience in rheumatology and an interest in psoriatic arthritis representing different healthcare sectors (government and private) of the UAE were chosen from the Emirates Society for Rheumatology and convened in several meetings.

A targeted literature review was conducted. Current international and local treatment guidelines for PsA were identified through an extensive literature search and reviewed by members of the panel to identify unmet needs in local treatment practices in the UAE.²³

Regional guidelines were compared with the latest international guidelines from the American College of Rheumatology/National Psoriasis Foundation Guideline (ACR/NPF) for the Treatment of Psoriatic Arthritis 2018, EULAR 2019, GRAPPA 2020, GRAPPA 2015 (Figure 4), and 2014 Saudi Practical Guidelines on Biologic Treatment of Psoriasis.^{18-20, 23, 24}

As of August 2021, there is a dearth for guidelines on management of PsA specific to Arab region.

Based on a review of international and regional guidelines, consensus statements were developed focusing on pharmacological treatment options, screening and monitoring requirements for PsA therapies, and management of comorbidities associated with PsA. The results were discussed with all the members of Emirates Society of Rheumatology meeting Figure 4: International Guidelines for Assessment and Management of Psoriatic Arthritis^{18-20,23}



to arrive at the final consensus statements. Key findings from the review were presented as statements.

Several meetings were held to generate consensus statements regarding pharmacological management of psoriatic arthritis. The first expert panel meeting was conducted on 23 September 2020 and the meeting lasted for 2 hours. The second expert panel meeting was conducted on 7 October 2020 and the meeting lasted for 3 hours. Third expert panel meeting was held on 16 December 2020 and lasted for 2 hours. The fourth and fifth meetings were held in the presence of Emirates Society for Rheumatology members on 18 December 2020 and 22 May 2021 respectively; each meeting lasted for almost 2 hours. The final meeting was held on 10 August 2021 and lasted for 2 hours when the consensus statements were approved.

The key objectives of the meeting were:

- To review similarities/differences in recommendations between the selected PsA guidelines
- 2. To identify and discuss gaps and unmet needs in current clinical practice for the evaluation and nonpharmacological management of PsA in the UAE
- To identify and discuss the gaps present in various aspects related to PsA treatment
- 4. To tailor international guidelines to suit local needs in PsA management

4. Results

4.1 Overarching principles

Figure 5: Multidisciplinary Treatment Approach in Management of Psoriatic Arthritis^{17,18,24}



4.2 Evaluation of patients with PsA

A key aspect of PsA treatment is comprehensive understanding of disease severity. **Due to the complex clinical presentation of PsA, there is a lack of acceptable diagnostic criteria and outcome measures for severity assessment. Several measures have been adopted to standardize the classification of patients based on disease severity.**

The 2009 GRAPPA recommendations state that patients can be stratified into 'mild,' 'moderate,' and 'severe' categories for each of the clinical manifestations of PsA (peripheral arthritis, skin disease, spinal disease, enthesitis, and dactylitis).²⁵ However, it was understood that patients may present with different levels of disease activity and different clinical manifestations, and therefore, the 2015 updated GRAPPA statements removed these rigid categorizations and designed treatment approaches based on disease activity, prognostic factors, comorbidities, and local access to therapies for the individual domains of PsA, namely peripheral arthritis, axial disease, enthesitis, dactylitis, skin psoriasis, psoriatic nail disease, uveitis, and inflammatory bowel disease (IBD).^{18, 19}

The expert panel acknowledged the value of composite disease severity measures for characterizing the clinical manifestations of PsA.

The Psoriatic Arthritis Disease Activity Score (PASDAS) is a widely adopted weighted index measure that incorporates evaluator and patient assessments of visual analog scale (VAS) scores, tender and swollen joint counts, dactylitis, enthesitis, health-related quality of life (HRQoL), and C-reactive protein (CRP) levels.

The Disease Activity for Psoriatic Arthritis (DAPSA) is a composite activity measure adapted from the disease activity index for the assessment of reactive arthritis (DAREA).²⁶ DAPSA has been clinically validated²⁷ and performs well in arthritis domains,^{28, 29} but was found to be less powerful than the Composite Psoriatic Disease Activity Index (CPDAI) in other clinical domains of PsA.^{29, 30} The CPDAI is a composite measure that includes assessments for 6 domains of PsA: peripheral arthritis, functional disability, skin,

dactylitis, enthesitis, and spinal manifestations.³¹ Unlike DAPSA, the CPDAI composite measure evaluates the extent of disease activity, as well as the effects of particular domains on physical function and HRQoL, which includes the mental, emotional, and social functioning domains.³² Overall, PASDAS has been shown to perform better than the DAPSA and CPDAI measures, specifically for estimating high and low disease activity.^{29, 33, 34} The expert panel urges that PASDAS scoring assessment should be performed by a trained physician, since rheumatologists do not routinely use this tool.

For assessment of peripheral joint involvement, the Psoriatic Arthritis Response Criteria (PsARC) is an easy tool that can be used in clinical practice. The PsARC evaluates tender and swollen joint scores, and physician and patient global assessment of disease activity.³⁵ The PsARC was able to distinguish between outcomes in the treated and placebo groups in several trials.³⁶⁻³⁸

The Minimal Disease Activity (MDA) scoring instrument is a clinically validated, reliable indicator of a patient's disease activity at a given point.^{39, 40} The MDA consists of 7 outcome measures including evaluation of tender joints, swollen joints, Psoriasis Area and Severity Index (PASI) or body surface area (BSA) patient pain VAS, Patient Global Assessment, Health Assessment Questionnaire (HAQ) and tender entheseal points. The MDA can be widely adopted in routine rheumatology clinics, owing to the ease of evaluating individual component measures and the absence of blood tests.⁴¹ Very low disease activity (VLDA), a modified MDA, has been developed and validated in recent studies. It represents the most stringent target for remission in PsA. The VLDA state is achieved when seven out of seven criteria are met.⁴²

The Ankylosing Spondylitis Disease Activity Score (ASDAS) is a recently developed composite disease activity score endorsed by Assessment of SpondyloArthritis International Society (ASAS). The preferred version selected by the ASAS is the ASDAS-CRP, and ASDAS-Erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR) is the alternative. ASDAS score correlated well with disease activity and showed good discriminative power, both in terms of physician and patient global assessments of disease severity.^{43, 44} For PsA with axial involvement, expert panel suggests the use of the ASAS criteria.^{45, 46}

The important disease activity measures routinely used in clinical practice are detailed in Table 1, along with their components.

Experts emphasized on consistent use of scoring method in clinical practice based on physician's discretion and domain of the disease.

Table 1: Components in Calculation of Disease Activity Measures in Psoriatic Arthritis^{36, 47-50}

| COMPONENTS | DAPSA | CPDAI | PASDAS | MDA | PsARC | ASDAS |
|-----------------------|-------|--------------|-----------|-----|-------|-------|
| | | CLINICAL AS | SESSMENT | | | |
| Tender joint count | 68 | 68 | 68 | 68 | 68 | |
| Swollen joint count | 66 | 66 | 66 | 66 | 66 | |
| PASI | | Х | Х | Х | | |
| Enthesitis (LEI) | | Х | Х | Х | | |
| Dactylitis count | | Х | Х | | | |
| VAS physician | | | Х | | Х | Х |
| | | PATIENT QUES | TIONNAIRE | | | |
| VAS global | Х | | Х | Х | Х | Х |
| VAS skin | | | | | | |
| VAS joints | | | | | | |
| VAS pain | Х | | | Х | | |
| HAQ | | Х | | Х | | |
| DLQI | | X | | | | |
| BASDAI | | Х | | | | Х |
| ASQoL | | X | | | | |
| SF-36 PCS | | | Х | | | |
| PsAQoL | | | | | | |
| LABORATORY ASSESSMENT | | | | | | |
| CRP | Х | | Х | | | Х |
| ESR | | | | | | Х |

ASDAS: Ankylosing Spondylitis Disease Activity Score; ASQoL: Ankylosing Spondylitis quality of Life; BASDAI: Bath Ankylosing Spondylitis Disease Activity Index; CPDAI: Composite Psoriatic Disease Activity Index; CRP: C-reactive protein;DAPSA: Disease Activity index for PSoriatic Arthritis; DAS28: Disease Activity Score 28; DLQI: Dermatology Life Quality Index; ESR: Erythrocyte sedimentation rate;LEI: Leeds Enthesitis Index; MDA: Minimal Disease Activity; PASDAS: Psoriatic Arthritis Disease Activity Score; PASI: Psoriasis Area and Severity Index; PSAQoL: Psoriatic Arthritis-specific Quality of Life; SF-36 PCS: Short Form 36 Physical Component Scale; VAS: Visual analog scale; PsARC: Psoriatic Arthritis Response Criteria.

Considering the paucity of information on diagnostic instruments for the screening of patients with PsA, the severity assessment of PsA should be performed on a case-by-case basis²⁰ and should account for the following factors: involvement of joints and damage based on imaging modalities, loss of physical function, impact on QoL and patient-reported outcomes. Patient-reported outcomes used for PsA including the Short Form (SF)-12/36, Health Assessment Questionnaire Disability Index (HAQ-DI), Functional Assessment of Chronic Illness Therapy-Fatigue (FACIT-F) scales are used to capture disease activity, pain, physical function, fatigue, and productivity, among others.⁵¹ The expert panel acknowledged the pivotal role of rheumatologists in the care of patients with PsA and, therefore, agreed that stratification of disease severity should primarily be based on rheumatologic assessment.¹⁸ Severe PsA should be established in accordance with ACR/NPF criteria: poor prognostic factors (erosive disease, dactylitis, elevated levels of inflammatory markers such as ESR and CRP attributable to PsA), long-term damage that interferes with joint function (e.g. joint deformities), and highly active disease that causes major impairment to QoL, and rapidly progressive disease.²⁰

Consensus statements on assessing PsA disease severity are presented in Table 2.

Table 2: Consensus Statements on Assessing Psoriatic Arthritis Disease Severity

- 1. Assessment of PsA requires consideration of major disease domains, including peripheral arthritis, axial disease, enthesitis, dactylitis, psoriasis, nail disease, uveitis, and IBD.
- 2. Instruments that could be considered for measuring severity in patients with PsA include: PASDAS, DAPSA scores, PsARC, MDS score, and the ASDAS.
- PsARC is an easy instrument that can be considered for assessment of severity of disease in patients with PsA in clinical practice.
 Although PsARC is no longer part of the OMERACT core domain set, some insurance companies mandate it for approval of immunosuppressive therapy
- MDA score can be considered a valid and reliable instrument for the assessment of disease severity in patients with PsA.
- The ASDAS score can be considered in the assessment of PsA with axial involvement despite the lack of validation studies.
- A combination of 2–3 most preferred instruments can be used to assess the disease activity, and the practitioner should be able to choose an instrument based on patient characteristics and disease involvement.
- Stratification of severity of PsA should be assessed considering one or more of the following parameters:
 - » Involvement of joints
 - » Damage on imaging modalities
 - » Loss of physical function
 - » QoL impact

- » Patient-reported outcomes (e.g. SF-12/36, HAQ-DI, FACIT-F scale)
- » Axial involvement
- For stratification of the severity of PsA, only rheumatological assessment instruments should be considered.
- Severe PsA disease includes the presence of one or more of the following (ACR/NPF):
- » Poor prognostic factor (erosive disease, dactylitis, extensive skin disease)
- » Long-term damage that interferes with function (e.g. joint deformities)
- » Highly active disease that causes major impairment to quality of life
- » Rapidly progressive disease
- 3. Regular assessment of:
 - » pain,
 - » functional limitation,
 - » QoL, and
 - » structural damage (e.g. X-ray, ultrasound, MRI) is recommended.
- 4. Assessment and timely referral of comorbidities and related conditions, such as metabolic syndrome, obesity, cardiovascular disease, psychiatric disease, fibromyalgia, fatty liver disease, malignancies, chronic infections (e.g. HBV/HCV), and bone health is recommended.

ACR: American College of Rheumatology; ASDAS: Ankylosing Spondylitis Disease Activity Score; DAPSA: Disease Activity in Psoriatic Arthritis; FACIT-F: Functional Assessment of Chronic Illness Therapy-Fatigue; HAQ-DI: Health Assessment Questionnaire-Disability Index; HBV: Hepatitis B virus; HCV: Hepatitis C virus; MDA: Minimal disease activity;MRI: Magnetic resonance imaging;NPF: National Psoriasis Foundation; PASDAS: Psoriatic Disease Activity Score; PsA: Psoriatic arthritis; PsARC: Psoriatic Arthritis Response Criteria; QoL: Quality of life; SF-12/36: Short Form-12/36.

5. Nonpharmacological therapies

It is known that comorbid medical conditions and lifestyle factors such as obesity, smoking, alcohol intake, and environmental triggers are risk factors for the development of PsA (Figure 9).⁵²⁻⁵⁴

Figure 9: Risk Factors of Psoriatic Arthritis⁵⁵⁻⁵⁷



Obese patients with PsA are likely to experience chronic inflammation and have more severe disease activity when compared with patients with a normal body mass index (BMI). While obesity is an independent risk factor for PsA, it is also true that patients with obesity have poorer outcomes and response to pharmacological therapies.58,59 Although the evidence is limited to draw definitive conclusions,⁶⁰ weight-loss interventions can be particularly effective in improving disease activity in this population.^{61, 62} These patients may directly benefit from the use of a hypocaloric diet plan, either alone or in combination with aerobic physical exercise.⁶³ There is evidence that intermittent fasting, such as the circadian system of fasting observed during Ramadan, is associated with improved disease activity in patients with PsA, regardless of the pharmacological therapy they receive.⁶⁴

In accordance with the recommendations of ACR/ NPF,²⁰ the expert panel agrees that any form of physical exercise is preferable to none in patients with active PsA.⁶⁵ Despite limited evidence, physical exercise has been shown to improve cardiorespiratory function and improve health-related QoL in patients with active PsA.⁶⁶ Patients with active PsA may also benefit from the use of nonpharmacological interventions, such as physical exercise, occupational therapy, massage therapy, and acupuncture.⁶⁷

The expert panel opined that low-impact physical exercises such as tai chi, swimming, and yoga (Figure 7) should be encouraged in patients who cannot tolerate high-impact exercises such as running.

Figure 10: Low-impact Physical Exercises



Despite the fact that there have been few studies examining the effect of smoking on treatment outcomes in patients with PsA,⁶⁸ it is well established that smoking is strongly linked to radiographic progression and poor prognosis in RA.⁶⁹⁻⁷² Smoking cessation is associated with lower disease activity and improved cardiovascular outcomes in patients with RA.⁷³ Therefore, in accordance with ACR/NPF, smoking cessation is recommended (cigarettes or tobacco) in patients with PsA.²⁰

A significantly high proportion of patients with PsA report poor QoL, depressive symptoms, anxiety, mood disturbances, and changes in sleep quality.⁷⁴⁻⁷⁶ It has been reported that higher disease activity and pain scores are correlated with the presence of a comorbid mental condition.⁷⁷ Psychological interventions, therefore, are an important part of the multidisciplinary care plan for the management of PsA. Although studies are lacking for PsA, psychological interventions such as cognitive behavioral therapy, biofeedback, counseling, mindfulness, relaxation (e.g., tai chi and yoga), and patient education have been shown to have a positive effect on the physical and psychological distress associated with RA.⁷⁸ Considering the value of these interventions in improving QoL, which can ultimately have a positive impact on disease outcomes, the experts recommend the use of psychotherapy in the routine clinical management of PsA.

Consensus recommendations for the use of nonpharmacological therapies for PsA are presented in Table 3.

Table 3: Consensus Recommendations for Use of Nonpharmacological Therapies forPsoriatic Arthritis

Diet

- Patients with PsA should be provided diet counseling.
- Intermittent fasting can have beneficial effects on PsA disease activity, including PsA-related disorders such as enthesitis and dactylitis, regardless of the implicated drug therapy.
- In patients with overweight and obesity, weight loss should be emphasized.
- Limited intake of alcohol should be encouraged.

Exercise

A

- In patients with PsA, some form or combination of physical therapy, exercise, occupational therapy, acupuncture, and massage therapy should be considered.
- Low-impact exercises such as yoga, tai chi, swimming should be encouraged.
- High-impact exercise such as running can be considered in patients who have no contraindication to these exercises.

| [| Q |
|---|---|
| J | 5 |
| - | |

Smoking and psychotherapy recommendations

Cessation of smoking (cigarettes and tobacco) should be emphasized.



Psychotherapy should be considered in patients with PsA, as depression is prevalent in these patients.



6. Treatment options

6.1 Pharmacological therapies

GRAPPA recommendations (2015) are centered around major domains within PsA, including peripheral arthritis, axial disease, enthesitis, dactylitis, psoriasis, and nail disease (Figure 8).¹⁸





In accordance with the overarching principles outlined in the GRAPPA recommendations, the expert panel agreed that treatment selection should be based on shared decision making between the physician and patient. The current treatment recommendations were developed to align with the core recommendations from GRAPPA.¹⁸

Pharmacological therapies for the management of PsA include:^{18,19,25, 79-84}

- Symptomatic treatments: non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) and glucocorticoids (GCCs)¹⁸
- Disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs (DMARDs):
 - » Conventional synthetic DMARDs (csDMARDs): methotrexate, sulfasalazine, leflunomide¹⁸
 - » Targeted synthetic DMARDs (tsDMARDs): phosphodiesterase-4 inhibitors (PDE-4i)(apremilast), Janus kinase inhibitors (JAKi) (tofacitinib, upadacitinib) ^{18,19,79}
- Biologic DMARDs:
 - » Tumor necrosis factor inhibitors (TNFi): adalimumab, etanercept, infliximab, certolizumab pegol, golimumab¹⁸

- » Interleukin -12/23 inhibitors (IL-12/23i): ustekinumab¹⁸
- » Interleukin-23 inhibitors. (IL-23i): guselkumab⁸⁰
- » Interleukin-17 inhibitors (IL-17i): secukinumab, ixekizumab¹⁹
- » Cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated protein 4-Immunoglobulin (CTLA4-Ig): abatacept¹⁹
- » Upcoming therapies: filgotinib, risankizumab, brodalumab, bimekizumab, deucravacitinib^{25, 81-84}

6.2 Dosage and Administration:

6.2.1 NSAIDs

The expert panel urged that a thorough safety evaluation should precede their use in patients with comorbid medical conditions (e.g. peptic ulcer disease, chronic kidney disease [CKD], cardiovascular disease [CVD]).

6.2.2 GCCs

In the treatment of peripheral arthritis, GCCs is recommended conditionally, and the lowest effective doses should be administered to reduce the risk of side effects.¹⁸

6.2.3 csDMARDs

Conventional DMARDs are indicated for the treatment of moderate-to-severe PsA and in patients who

have failed to respond to short-term NSAID therapy. Methotrexate has been shown to improve disease activity and health-related QoL in patients with PsA. Methotrexate has a broad therapeutic dose range (7.5–30 mg/week) and different administration forms (oral, or subcutaneous).⁸⁵ Evidence suggests that monotherapy with methotrexate offers moderate improvement in joint and skin disease in patients with PsA, and doses >15 mg per week are associated with greater clinical efficacy compared to lower doses.^{86, 87}

In patients with mild-to-moderate peripheral arthritis, use of sulfasalazine at a dose of 2–3 g/day may improve functional outcomes.^{36, 88}

Leflunomide monotherapy with a daily loading dose of 100 mg for 3 days, followed by 20 mg/day is effective in the management of patients with mild-to-moderate PsA.³⁸ In an ongoing randomized, placebo-controlled, double-blind trial, the effectiveness of combination therapy of methotrexate and leflunomide in the treatment of patients with PsA is being evaluated, and the outcomes of the study are expected to provide key information for treatment strategies in PsA.⁸⁹

6.2.4 tsDMARDs

• PDE-4i

Apremilast at a dose of 30 mg twice daily (BID) improves signs and symptoms and physical function in patients with active PsA.⁹⁰⁻⁹⁴

• JAKi

The recommended dosage of upadacitinib, a selective JAK inhibitor is 15 mg once daily orally in patients with active PsA, who have not adequately responded or intolerant to one or more DMARDs.⁷⁹

According to EULAR 2019 recommendations, tofacitinib should be administered after inadequate response or intolerance to at least one bDMARD, or in case bDMARDs are not considered appropriate (due to patient preference for oral therapy or adherence issues to injectable formulations).¹⁹ The recommended dose of tofacitinib is 5 mg twice daily (immediate release) or 11 mg once daily (extended release) in combination with nonbiologic DMARDs.⁹⁵

6.2.5 Biological agents

• TNFi

TNFi agents approved by the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) and other health authorities worldwide for PsA treatment include etanercept, infliximab, adalimumab, golimumab, and certolizumab pegol. They are recommended for use in PsA after inadequate response to at least one synthetic DMARD, although they may also be used as initial therapy.⁹⁶ TNFi agents are recommended in peripheral arthritis, and are also the first choice of therapy in enthesitis, dactylitis, and nail psoriasis.⁹⁷ The dosage recommendations for TNFi (adalimumab, etanercept, infliximab, certolizumab pegol, and golimumab are shown in Table 4.

• IL-12/23i

The IL-12/23i ustekinumab has been recommended alongside other biologics such as TNFi and IL-17i agents after DMARD therapy in patients with active PsA.^{18, 19} The recommended dose of ustekinumab is 45 mg or 90 mg (SC)at 0 and 4 weeks and every 12 weeks thereafter.⁹⁸

• IL-17i

The recommended dose of IL-17i ixekizumab in patients with active PsA and inadequate respons to TNFi agents is starting dose of 160 mg followed by 80 mg every 2 or 4 weeks for the safe and effective management of PsA.⁹⁹ Subcutaneous administration of IL-17i secukinumab is recommended at doses of 300 mg in patients with concomitant moderate-tosevere plaque psoriasis or who are TNFi inadequate responders at week 0,1,2,3 and 4 and every 4 weeks thereafter. The loading dose can be 150 mg in other patients at Weeks 1, 2, 3, and 4 and every week thereafter and based on the clinical response the dose can be increased to 300 mg.¹⁰⁰

• IL-23i

Guselkumab, a specific IL-23i, has been recently approved for the treatment of PsA by the US FDA and EMA.⁸⁰ The recommended dose of guselkumab is 100 mg at Week 0, Week 4, and every 8 weeks thereafter.¹⁰¹ Risankizumab was not approved for PsA by FDA and European Medicines Agency (EMA) when our consensus statements were drafted. However, the EMA and FDA approved it on 22 November 2021 and 21 January 2022 respectively for treatment of active psoriatic arthritis.^{102, 103}

· CTLA4-Ig

Abatacept is a biologic agent that targets T-cell costimulatory signals selectively and is approved for the treatment of PsA patients with inadequate response to csDMARDs, excluding those with uncontrolled skin lesions and axial disease.¹⁰⁴

6.2.6 Biosimilars

In recent years, biosimilars of infliximab, etanercept, and adalimumab have been approved by regulatory bodies in Europe and the United States of America (USA) for the treatment of PsA. These agents have been approved for the treatment of PsA based on similar efficacy to the reference product in psoriasis and/or RA, by the extrapolation principle.¹⁰⁵⁻¹⁰⁷ Biosimilars are more cost-effective compared to biologics, and thereby represent a solution for better patient accessibility to therapy and reduction in associated healthcare costs.¹⁰⁸

Table 4: Dosage Recommendations for Pharmacological Therapies for Psoriatic Arthritis

| THERAPEUTIC CLASS | DOSAGE | ROUTE OF ADMINISTRATION |
|--|--|----------------------------|
| NSAIDs* | - | Oral and IM |
| GCCs** | Lowest effective dose | IM and IA |
| csDMARDs | | |
| Methotrexate ⁸⁵ | 7.5–30 mg/week | Oral, SC |
| Sulfasalazine ^{88, 109} | 2 to 3 g/day | Oral |
| Leflunomide ³⁸ | Daily loading dose of 100 mg for 3 days followed by 20 mg/day | Oral |
| tsDMARDs | | |
| Apremilast ^{90, 91, 93, 94} | 20 mg twice daily or 30 mg twice daily | Oral |
| Tofacitinib ⁹⁵ | 5 mg twice daily (immediate release) or 11 mg once daily (extended release) in combination with non-biologic DMARDs | Oral |
| Upadacitinib ⁷⁹ | 15 mg once daily | Oral |
| TNFi** | | |
| Adalimumab ¹¹⁰ | 40 mg every 2 weeks in patients with PsA with inadequate response to DMARDs | SC |
| Etanercept ^{37, 111, 112} | 50 mg once weekly | SC |
| Infliximab ^{113, 114} | 5mg/kg at 0, 2, 6 weeks, and every 8 weeks thereafter. | IV |
| Certolizumab pegol ^{115, 116} | 400 mg at Weeks 0, 2, 4 Maintenance dose:200 mg every 2 weeks, or 400 mg every 4 weeks once clinical response is confirmed | SC |
| Golimumab ¹¹⁷ | SC: 50 mg monthly IV: 2 mg/kg over 30 minutes at Weeks 0 and 4 (loading dose), thereafter every 8 weeks (maintenance) | SC, IV |
| IL-12/23i*** | | |
| Ustekinumab ⁹⁸ | 45 mg or 90 mg (based on weight) at 0 and 4 weeks, and every 12 weeks thereafter | SC |
| IL-17i | | |
| Secukinumab ¹¹⁸ | 300 mg in patients with concomitant moderate-to- severe plaque psoriasis or who are TNFi inadequate responders at Weeks 0, 1, 2, 3, and 4 and every 4 weeks thereafter. 150 mg in other patients at Weeks 0, 1, 3, 4 and every 4 weeks thereafter and based on clinical response the dose can be increased to 300 mg. | SC |
| Ixekizumab ^{99, 119} | 160 mg followed by 80 mg every 2 or 4 weeks in patients who previously had inadequate response to TNFi; For patients with arthritis and moderate-to-severe plaque psoriasis, using the dosing regimen for plaque psoriasis;160 mg SC at week 0, then 80 mg SC at week 2, 4, 6, 8,10 and 12, then 80 mg SC every 4 weeks, starting week 16. | SC |
| IL-23i | | |
| Guselkumab ¹⁰¹ | 100 mg at Weeks 0 and 4, and every 8 weeks thereafter (maintenance) | SC |
| CTLA4-IG | | |
| Abatacept (CTLA4-Ig) T-Cell co- stimulation inhibitor ^{104, 120} | 500 mg, 750 mg, or 1000 mg (based on weight range); following initial IV infusion, subsequent infusions should be administered at 2 and 4 weeks and every 4 weeks thereafter 2) 125 mg of abatacept injection should be administered subcutaneously once weekly | IV, SC |

* Mentioning the doses of all available NSAIDs is beyond the scope of this paper.

**EULAR 2019 and GRAPPA 2015 guidelines recommend administering the lowest effective doses of GCC.

***Loading dosage might vary according to the severity of psoriasis and other domains of the disease.

csDMARD: Conventional synthetic disease-modifying antirheumatic drug; CTLA4-Ig: Cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated antigen4-immunoglobulin; IA: Intra-articular; IL: Interleukin; IM: Intramuscular; IV: Intravenous; JAK: Janus kinase; NSAIDs: Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs; PsA: Psoriatic arthritis; PDE-4i: Phosphodiesterase-4 inhibitor; SC: Subcutaneous; TNFi: Tumor necrosis factor inhibitor; tsDMARD: Targeted systemic diseasemodifying antirheumatic drug.

6.3 Treatment recommendations based on PsA domains

6.3.1 Peripheral arthritis

In DMARD-naïve patients with peripheral arthritis, csDMARDs (methotrexate, sulfasalazine, and leflunomide), PDE-4i, IL-12/23i, IL-17i, IL-23i, JAKi, and TNFi are recommended.^{18, 20, 92} In patients with monoarthritis or oligoarthritis accompanied by factors such as dactylitis or joint damage, the use of csDMARD and intraarticular (IA) GCC should be considered.18 In patients with polyarticular disease, csDMARDs should be administered either as first-line treatment or after a short course of NSAIDs.In patients with inadequate response to csDMARDs, TNFi, IL-12/23i, IL23i, IL17i, PDE-4i and JAKi are recommended therapeutic options.^{18, 19, 95, 121, 122} In patients with inadequate response to one biologic treatment, switching to another biologic within the same drug class, or to a drug with a different mode of action, should be considered.^{18, 19} In all patients with peripheral arthritis, intra-articular and systemic GCC are conditionally recommended at the lowest dosages and for a short duration (Figure 9).

Figure 7: Treatment Schema for Peripheral Arthritis



Intra-articular and systemic GCC are conditionally recommended at lowest dosages in all patients with peripheral arthritis

csDMARDs: Conventional synthetic disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs; DMARD: Disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs;IL-17i: Interleukin-17 inhibitors; IL-12/23I:Interleukin-12/23 inhibitors; IL-23i:Interleukin-23 inhibitors; IR:Inadequate response;JAKi: Janus kinase inhibitors; MOA:Mechanism of action; PDE-4i:Phosphodiesterase-4 inhibitors; TNFi: Tumor necrosis factor inhibitors

6.4.2 Axial disease

At the time of drafting consensus statements, there were no studies on management of psoriatic spondylitis. Therefore, management of this condition depends on current treatment modalities in ankylosing spondylitis. In patients with psoriatic spondylitis/ axial disease who are biologic-naïve, NSAIDs, physiotherapy, simple analgesia, TNFi or IL-17i, JAKi are recommended therapeutic options. Tofacitinib was not approved for PsA by FDA and European Medicines Agency (EMA) when the consensus statements were drafted. However, FDA and EMA approved it on 18 November 2021 and 14 December 2021 respectively for treatment of ankylosing spondylitis. Other therapeutic options such as sacroiliac joint GCCs injections and bisphosphonates can be used, but with caution.^{18, 23, 123-129}

Figure 8: Treatment Schema for Axial Disease



GCCs:Glucocorticoids; IL-17i: Interleukin-17 inhibitors; IR: Inadequate response; JAKi:Janus kinase inhibitors; NSAIDs: Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs; Rx: Medical prescription; TNFi: Tumor necrosis factor inhibitors

6.3.3 Enthesitis

For the management of PsA patients with enthesitis (inflammation at the sites of attachment of ligaments, tendons, and joint capsules to bone),131 treatment with TNFi, IL-17i, JAKi, IL-23i, and IL-12/23i are recommended therapeutic options. Other therapeutic include NSAIDs, physiotherapy, methotrexate, CTLA-4 Ig, and PDE-4 inhibitors.^{18, 19, 121, 132-136}

6.3.4 Dactylitis

The recommended therapies for the management of PsA patients with dactylitis include TNFi therapies (infliximab, adalimumab, golimumab, and certolizumab pegol), IL-17i, IL-12/23i, IL-23i, JAKi, and PDE-4i.^{18, 101, 105,} ¹⁰⁶ Other therapeutic options include NSAIDs, GCCs injections, and methotrexate.¹⁸

6.3.5 Nail disease

The recommended therapies for the management of PsA patients with dactylitis include TNFi therapies (infliximab, adalimumab, golimumab, and certolizumab pegol), IL-17i, IL-12/23i, IL-23i, JAKi, and PDE-4i.^{18, 132, 136, 137}

¹⁰⁶Other therapeutic options include NSAIDs, GCCs injections, and methotrexate.¹⁸

6.3.6 Skin disease

The expert panel recommends the use of topical therapies, phototherapy, acitretin and csDMARDs (methotrexate, leflunomide, cyclosporine) as firstline therapeutic options especially for PsA patients with milder skin disease.¹⁸ TNFi, IL-17i, IL12/23i, IL-23i, JAKi and PDE-4i are recommended therapeutic options for treatment of PsA patients with significant skin involvement.¹⁸ Furthermore, biologic agents such as IL-17i are preferred to TNFi, with or without topical treatments and DMARDs, in PsA patients with active psoriasis (\geq 3% of body surface area of skin involvement).⁵⁶ In accordance with GRAPPA 2015 recommendations, the expert panel recommends switching from one DMARD to another, or to biologic treatment, or from one biologic treatment to another.¹⁸

Consensus recommendations for the treatment of PsA domains were based on GRAPPA 2015, GRAPPA 2020, EULAR 2019 recommendations and literature review, and are presented in Table 5.

Table 5: Consensus Recommendations for Treatment of Psoriatic Arthritis Domains

| DOMAIN | RECOMMENDED THERAPEUTIC OPTIONS (STRONGLY RECOMMENDED) | OTHER THERAPEUTIC OPTIONS (CONDITIONALLY RECOMMENDED) | TO BE AVOIDED (STRONGLY NOT RECOMMENDED) |
|--|--|--|--|
| • Peripheral Arthritis DMARD-naïve ^{18,20,94} | csDMARD TNFi PDE-4i IL-12/23i IL-17i IL-23i JAKi | NSAIDs GCCs (oral or IA) CTLA-4 lg | |
| Peripheral Arthritis DMARD inadequate response^{18,19,57,95,121} | TNFi PDE-4i IL-12/23i IL-17i IL-23i JAKi | NSAIDs GCCs (oral or IA) csDMARD CTLA-4 lg | |
| Peripheral Arthritis, inadequate response to biological treatment^{18,123} | TNFi IL-17i IL-12/23i IL-23i JAKi | NSAID GCC (oral and IA) CTLA-4 Ig PDE-4i | |
| • Axial PsA ^{18,81, 125, 126} | NSAIDs and simple analgesia Physiotherapy TNFi IL-17i JAKi | GCC injection for sacroiliac joints Bisphosphonate | csDMARDIL-12/23i |
| • Enthesitis ^{18,19,57, 132-136} | TNFi IL-17i JAKi IL-23i IL-12/23i | NSAIDs physiotherapy MTX CTLA-4 IgG, and PDE-4i | |
| • Dactylitis ^{18, 123, 132, 136, 137} | TNFi IL-17i IL12-23i IL-23i JAKi PDE-4i | NSAIDs, GCCs injections MTX CTLA-4 Ig | |
| • Nail disease ^{18, 19, 55, 138-140, 142} | TNFi IL-17i PDE-4i IL-12/23i IL-23i | | |
| • Skin disease (Plaque) ^{18, 93,} ¹⁴³⁻¹⁴⁶ | Topical therapies, phototherapy acitretin, csDMARDs (MTX,LEF,CSA) TNFi IL-12/23i IL-17i IL-23i JAKi PDE-4i | | |

CS: Corticosteroids; CSA: Cyclosporine; CTLA-4 Ig: Cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen-4 immunoglobulin; DMARD: Disease-modifying antirheumatic drug; GCC: Glucocorticoids; IA: Intra-articular; IL-12/23i: Interleukin-12/23 inhibitor; IL-17i: Interleukin-17 inhibitor; IL-23i: Interleukin-23 inhibitor; IV: Intravenous; JAKi: Janus kinase inhibitor; LEF: Leflunomide; MTX: Methotrexate; NSAIDs: Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs; PsA: Psoriatic arthritis; PDE-4i Phosphodiesterase-4 inhibitor (apremilast); SC: Subcutaneous; TNFi: Tumor necrosis factor inhibitor.

7. Efficacy and safety PsA therapies

7.1 Treatment response

Evaluating response to therapy in patients with PsA can be difficult due to its complex nature, which encompasses a multitude of clinical manifestations. To date, there is no standardized outcome measure for PsA. In terms of efficacy and safety profile, experts agreed to adhere to the recommendations from guidelines, latest literature evidence and prescription label. Accordingly, consensus statements were developed for efficacy and safety of non-biologic and biologic therapies.

7.2 Efficacy and safety of non-biologic pharmacological therapies

For relieving musculoskeletal signs and symptoms, the efficacy and safety of available nonbiologic pharmacological therapies is detailed below.

Consensus statements on the efficacy and safety of non-biologic pharmacological therapies are presented in Table 6.

Table 6: Consensus Statements on Efficacy/Safety Profile of Nonbiologic-pharmacological Therapies

| SYMPTOMATIC TREATMENTS | |
|------------------------|---|
| | In PsA patients with peripheral arthritis, NSAID monotherapy without DMARDs should not exceed 1 month if disease activity persists. ¹⁹ |
| | In the case of axial or entheseal involvement, NSAID therapy may be continued for up to 12 weeks if relief has already been achieved after 4 weeks. ¹⁹ |
| NSAIDs | Because of the potential for side effects (eg gastrointestinal complications, hepatic complications, allergic complications, cardiovascular complications and chronic kidney disease), NSAIDs should be used with caution. |
| | NSAIDs such as celecoxib are contraindicated in patients with hypersensitivity to celecoxib, patients with history of asthma, urticaria, or other allergic type of reactions after taking NSAIDs. NSAID use should be avoided during the perioperative period in the setting of coronary artery bypass surgery. |
| GCCs | Systemic GCC use may be associated with skin flares, and GCCs should be used with caution, especially when treatment is being tapered for the potential worsening of skin symptoms. Intra-articular injection of GCCs may rarely result in depigmentation. ¹⁴⁷ |
| | Intra-articular injection of GCCs may rarely result in depigmentation. ¹⁴⁷ |

| csDMARDs | | |
|---------------|--|--|
| | MTX should be prescribed at an optimal dose of 25 mg per week and with folate supplementation. | |
| | If improvement does not exceed 50% of a composite measure for PsA within 3 months or the treatment target is not reached within 6 months, JAKi or bDMARD can be added to MTX treatment. | |
| Methotrexate | Gastrointestinal manifestations, hepatotoxicity, dizziness, photosensitivity are common adverse effects associated with MTX treatment. | |
| | MTX should be used with caution in patients with impaired renal function, ascites pleural effusion should be avoided in pregnant women due to its teratogenic effects. Other contraindications for use of MTX include liver disease, immunodeficiency syndrome, preexisting blood dyscrasias and in patients with hypersensitivity to MTX. | |
| | Leflunomide is effective and safe in the management of PsA, particularly in reducing tenderness, pain, fatigue, dactylitis, and skin disease in patients with PsA. ¹⁴⁸ | |
| Leflunomide | Common adverse effects of leflunomide include diarrhea, nausea, headache, rash, respiratory infection, abnormal liver enzymes. | |
| | Leflunomide should be used with caution in patients with severe infections. | |
| | Caution should be taken for its use in pregnant women and in patients with severe hepatic impairment. | |
| Sulfasalazine | Sulfasalazine shows greater improvement in patients with symmetrical polyarticular peripheral arthritis. | |
| | Sulfasalazine shows significant improvement in joint scores and reduction in disease activity as early as the fourth week of treatment. ¹⁴⁹ | |
| | Sulfasalazine is well tolerated and safe in patients with PsA at a dose of 2.0g/day. | |
| | Patients with PsA who are known or suspected to have COVID-19, should continue to use sulfasalazine. ^{150, 151} | |
| | Common adverse events associated with sulfasalazine include gastric upset, skin rashes, headache, and liver disorders. Should be used with caution in patients with severe allergy, bronchial asthma, and glucose- 6-phosphate dehydrogenase deficiency (G6PD). Sulfasalazine should be avoided in patients with intestinal or urinary obstruction, porphyria, and hypersensitivity to sulfasalazine. | |
| tsDMARDs | | |
| | Apremilast is effective in the treatment of biologic-naïve patients with PsA and has a tolerable safety profile. | |
| | Diarrhea and nausea are the 2 most common adverse events associated with the use of apremilast. | |
| Apremilast | Apremilast should be used with caution in PsA patients with depression. | |
| | Apremilast does not require routine therapeutic monitoring. | |
| | Apremilast is a safe and effective therapeutic option in the HIV-infected population with psoriatic arthritis. | |
| | Tofacitinib is safe and effective in the management of csDMARD-IR/TNFi- naïve and TNFi-IR patients and is effective in PsA patients with enthesitis and dactylitis. | |
| Tofacitinib | Patients with recurrent deep-vein thrombosis and those at high risk of shingles infection should exercise caution. | |
| | Tofacitinib has an acceptable safety profile with a low incidence of serious infections, malignancies, cardiovascular events, and gastrointestinal complications. | |

| | Upadacitinib is safe and effective in the management of patients with active ankylosing spondylitis. | |
|--------------|--|--|
| Upadacitinib | Upper respiratory tract infections, nausea, cough, and pyrexia are common adverse effects associated with the use of upadacitinib. | |
| | Caution should be taken in patients with active and serious infections, malignancy, thrombosis, and gastrointestinal perforation. | |

bDMARD: Biologic disease-modifying antirheumatic drug; csDMARD: Conventional synthetic disease-modifying antirheumatic drug; COVID-19: Coronavirus disease-2019; GCC: Glucocorticoids; HIV: Human immunodeficiency virus; IR: Inadequate response; JAKi: Janus kinase inhibitor; MTX: Methotrexate; NSAIDs: Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs; PsA: Psoriatic arthritis; TNF: Tumor necrosis factor; tsDMARD: Targeted synthetic disease-modifying antirheumatic drug.

7.3. Biologic pharmacological therapies

Consensus statements on the efficacy and safety of biologic pharmacological therapy are presented in Table 7.

Table 7: Consensus statements on Efficacy/Safety Profile of Biologic Pharmacological

Therapies

TNFi THERAPY

- Adalimumab at a dose of 40 mg (at baseline, Weeks 2 and 4, and every 4 weeks thereafter) can significantly improve joint and skin manifestations and reduce radiographic progression in patients with active PsA by achieving clinical response by 6 months.^{152, 153}
- Etanercept (25 mg twice weekly) can significantly reduce the signs and symptoms of PsA and achieve clinical response by Week 12, sustaining its efficacy from 48 weeks to 2 years.^{111, 112}
- Use of infliximab, at a dose of 5 mg/kg (at Weeks 0, 2, and 6, and every 8 weeks thereafter) significantly inhibits the progression of radiographic damage in patients with active PsA as early as 6 months after starting treatment, and the beneficial effect continues through 1 year of treatment.¹⁵⁴
- Treatment with infliximab at a dose of 5 mg/kg significantly improves the signs and symptoms of arthritis, psoriasis, dactylitis, and enthesitis in patients with active PsA that is resistant to DMARD therapy.^{155, 156}
- Certolizumab pegol (200 mg every 2 weeks or 400 mg every 4 weeks) provides rapid improvement in the signs and symptoms of PsA, including joints, skin, enthesitis, dactylitis, and nail disease. It can reduce the progression of structural damage until 2 years in PsA patients with/without prior anti-TNF exposure.^{157, 158}
- Golimumab (100 mg) has also been shown to inhibit radiographic progression as early as 6 months and is effective in maintaining clinical improvement for 5 years.¹⁵⁹
- TNFi therapy should not be initiated or continued in the presence of serious active infection but can be recommenced once the infection has resolved clinically.
- TNFi therapy should be used with caution in patients at high infection risk:
 - » Active mycobacterial infection should be adequately treated before TNFi therapy is started.
 - » HIV or HCV infection should not preclude treatment with TNFi therapy, although treatment should only be commenced in those with well-controlled disease and with appropriate monitoring under the care of a hepatologist or HIV specialist, although etanercept has been shown to be safe in PsA patients with HCV.
- » TNFi therapy in those with chronic HBV should be approached with caution, given the potential risk of reactivation and fulminant hepatitis.
- TNFi therapy should be avoided in patients with a current or prior history of malignancy.
- Caution should be taken in patients with serious infections and demyelinating diseases or in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus.

IL-12/23 INHIBITORS

- Ustekinumab (SC) at a dose of 45 mg or 90 mg (weight dependent) reduces signs and symptoms of articular and dermatological manifestations in PsA patients with and without TNFi therapy exposure and is well tolerated through 16 weeks of therapy.¹⁶⁰
- Adverse effects of IL-12/23i include upper respiratory tract infections, nasopharyngitis, back pain, headache, injection-site reactions, myalgia, fatigue, and rarely severe infection and malignancy.
- Caution should be taken in patients with serious infections and malignancy.
- Ustekinumab is contraindicated in patients with clinically significant hypersensitivity to ustekinumab or to any of its excipients.

IL-17 INHIBITORS

- Secukinumab (SC) provides sustained improvement in signs and symptoms and multiple clinical domains in active PsA patients and is well tolerated through 5 years of therapy.¹⁶¹
- Secukinumab (150–300 mg) is well tolerated for long-term treatment.
- Ixekizumab is a highly effective treatment for active PsA patients, especially those previously exposed to csDMARDs and TNFi therapies.^{99, 162}
- The most common adverse effects associated IL-17i include upper respiratory tract infections and injection-site reactions.
- IL-17i should be used with caution in patients with concomitant IBD and severe infections.
- IL-17i are contraindicated in patients with serious allergic reactions to the molecule or its recipients.

IL-23 INHIBITORS

- Guselkumab has shown significant improvement in joint symptoms with more than one-third of patients achieving ACR50 by Week 24.¹¹⁴
- Guselkumab shows significant improvement in inhibition of radiographic progression of joint structural damage and resolving enthesitis, dactylitis in patients with active PsA at 24 weeks.^{57, 163}
- Common adverse events with guselkumab include hypersensitivity reactions, including anaphylaxis and upper respiratory tract infections, gastroenteritis, tinea infections, and herpes simplex infections.

CTLA-4 Ig

- Abatacept can be effective in patients with PsA refractory to DMARDs.¹²¹
- The most common adverse effects associated with abatacept include headache, upper respiratory tract infection, nasopharyngitis, and nausea.

ACR: American College of Rheumatology; CTLA4-Ig: Cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated protein4 -immunoglobulin; DMARD: Disease-modifying antirheumatic drug; HBV: Hepatitis B virus; HCV: Hepatitis C virus; HIV: Human immunodeficiency virus; IBD: Inflammatory bowel disease; IL: Interleukin; PsA: Psoriatic arthritis; SC: Subcutaneous; TNFi: Tumor necrosis factor inhibitor.

7.4 Treatment failure and switching therapy

The expert panel agreed that transitioning to alternative TNFi therapy should be considered in PsA patients with primary or secondary failure of TNFi therapy. The response to alternative treatment should be assessed with the same criteria as those used for the first TNFi agent. Furthermore, possible consequences for control of skin disease should be considered and referral to a dermatologist also considered, if required.²⁰

Similarly, switching within a class or between a class (bDMARD to tsDMARD) can also be considered in case of primary or secondary failure of a bDMARD. However, it is more advisable to change class after a second failure within a given class.²⁰

8. Monitoring

Expert panel suggested that before initiation of any systemic therapy, a practical approach should be adopted to monitor PsA patients on the basis of medical history, physical examination, and tests (laboratory and imaging). Expert panel opined that monitoring of systemic therapies aids is crucial to maximize the benefits and minimize the risks associated with these drugs.

Owing to an increased risk of hepatotoxicity and renal toxicity associated with most systemic DMARDs, experts recommended monitoring tests including complete blood count, comprehensive liver function tests, renal function test, erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR), CRP, and serum creatinine levels.

As most bDMARDs are immunomodulators, there is a high risk of serious infections, including tuberculosis, hepatitis, and HIV. Therefore, it is important that patients are routinely screened for tuberculosis (QuantiFERON), hepatitis B virus (HBV), hepatitis C virus (HCV), and HIV prior to initiating any biologic therapy.

Furthermore, patients should be assessed for their vaccination status before initiating any systemic therapy. Routine vaccination for pertussis and inactivated influenza, pneumococcal, and HBV is recommended in high-risk patients and in highly prevalent regions at baseline. Varicella-zoster antibody (IgG) test, especially in patients taking JAKi inhibitors, should be conducted at baseline. Live vaccines should be avoided during treatment with biologics.

Patients on TNFi should be regularly screened for skin cancers (including melanoma), especially if they are at high risk. A general screening questionnaire for malignancy should also be considered on a caseby-case basis. Given the increased prevalence and incidence of CVD and diabetes among PsA patients, appropriate screening is recommended. Framingham risk score or atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease (ASCVD) should be used regularly for CVD risk assessment in patients with PsA. All patients with PsA should be encouraged to achieve and maintain a healthy body weight. This is of specific relevance to PsA, as the likelihood of reduction in disease activity with TNFi treatment appears to be higher among patients with normal body weight than among patients with PsA who are overweight. Depression and anxiety are highly prevalent among patients with PsA. It is necessary to weigh the risks and benefits of treatment in patients with a history of depression and/or suicidal thoughts/behavior, before initiating therapy. Patients at high risk should be regularly screened for any psychotic symptoms and suicide ideation. Due to the increased risk of ophthalmic disease and IBD in patients with PsA, the experts also agreed that prior to initiating PsA therapy, it is important to obtain a baseline evaluation of the patient for eye disease and gastrointestinal disease and if needed, patients should be referred to appropriate specialists. Also, pregnancy test should be considered as an important screening test prior to initiation of any biologic. Although all approved biologics for psoriasis belong to pregnancy category B, these drugs should be used with caution with strong consideration of the specific clinical scenario. All tests should be conducted periodically every 1–3 months during treatment and be based on clinical judgment.

In accordance with the recommendations provided by the Saudi guideline and GRAPPA 2015 and evidence from literature, consensus statements on monitoring requirements for PsA therapies are presented in Table 8.

Table 8: Consensus Statements on Monitoring Requirements for Psoriatic Arthritis Therapies

| F | RECOMMENDATIONS |
|---|---|
| • | Recommended laboratory tests prior to initiation of a biologic treatment include: ^{18, 24} |
| | » Complete blood count: Hemoglobin, hematocrit, white blood cell count, white blood cell differentiation, and platelet count |
| | » Comprehensive liver function tests: Direct bilirubin, total bilirubin, ALP, ALT and GGT |
| | » Renal function test |
| • | Other important tests include ESR, CRP, and serum creatinine. |
| • | Screening for HIV, HBV, HCV, and tuberculosis (QuantiFERON preferable) should be strongly considered, in accordance with local guidelines and standards of medical practice, before initiation of therapies that may potentially alter normal immune response. ¹⁸ |
| • | Inclusion of varicella-zoster antibody (IgG) test, especially in patients taking JAKi, for baseline tests, should be considered. ¹⁶⁴ |
| • | Chest X-ray as a baseline monitoring test for all drugs should be strongly considered. |
| • | A general screening questionnaire for malignancy should be considered on a case-by-case basis. |
| • | Given the increased prevalence and incidence of CVD and diabetes among patients with PsA, regular screening is recommended (e.g. Framingham risk score or ASCVD for CVD risk assessment). ¹⁸ |
| • | Screening for depression and anxiety among patients with PsA should also be considered. ¹⁸ |
| • | Given the association of ophthalmic disease with the spondylarthritis and an increased risk of IBD among patients with PsA, consideration of screening for eye disease and gastrointestinal disease is recommended as a part of the review of systems, as well as consideration of appropriate referral, as applicable. ¹⁸ |
| | Monitoring tests should be conducted every 1–3 months during treatment and based on clinical judgment. |

ALP: Alkaline phosphatase; ALT: Alanine transaminase; ASCVD: Atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease; CRP: C-reactive protein; CVD: Cardiovascular disease; ESR: Erythrocyte sedimentation rate; GGT: G-glutamyl transferase; HBV: Hepatitis B virus; HCV: Hepatitis C virus; HIV: Human immunodeficiency viruses; IBD: Inflammatory bowel disease; IgG: Immunoglobulin G; JAK: Janus kinase; PsA: Psoriatic arthritis.

9. Management of Comorbidities

Identifying comorbidities is critical to the optimal management and treatment of PsA. Common comorbidities in patients with PsA include CVD, obesity, metabolic syndrome, hypercholesterolemia, hypertension, diabetes mellitus, chronic kidney disease, malignancy, osteoporosis, non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD), and depression. Moreover, some comorbidities such as IBD and ophthalmic disease (e.g. uveitis) might present as extra-articular manifestations of disease.

9.1 Cardiovascular disease

The risk of major adverse cardiovascular events is found to be higher in patients with PsA not prescribed DMARD compared to the general population or those with psoriasis only.^{165, 166} Based on clinical evidence and GRAPPA 2020 recommendations, JAKi, ustekinumab, IL-17i, IL-23i, abatacept could be considered as treatment options in the management of PsA patients with comorbid CVD.^{123, 167-171} GRAPPA recommends caution with the use of TNFi and GCCs and NSAIDs in patients with CHF.¹⁸

9.2 Obesity and metabolic syndrome

GRAPPA 2020 recommends that physicians should be cautious about prescribing glucocorticoids to patients with metabolic syndrome, and methotrexate to patients with obesity and metabolic syndrome.^{123, 135}

9.3 Hypercholesterolemia

Expert panel emphasized on importance of lipidlowering drugs and nutritionist referral in PsA patients with comorbid hypercholesterolemia. Evidence suggests that tofacitinib should be used with caution in PsA patients with comorbid hypercholesterolemia.¹⁷²

9.4 Hypertension

Statins, angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors, and/or angiotensin II blockers are preferred treatment options in patients with PsA and hypertension.¹⁸ Caution should be taken when prescribing NSAIDs, cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) inhibitors, or prednisone, as they are associated with an increased risk of CVD.^{18, 173}

9.5 Diabetes Mellitus

The prevalence of type 2 diabetes mellitus in patients with PsA has been reported to be between 6.1 to 20.2% with a higher risk noted in women with more severe forms of PsA.¹⁷⁴ When selecting the treatment for PsA in such patients, most guidelines recommend taking caution with GCCs and methotrexate, as they could worsen glycemic homeostasis and/or influence cardiovascular risk factors such as arterial hypertension.^{18, 20}

9.6 Inflammatory bowel disease

There is increased prevalence of IBD and subclinical bowel inflammation among patients with PsA.^{175, 176} Sulfasalazine, TNFi, and tofacitinib (only ulcerative colitis) are approved treatments for IBD. According to 2018 ACR/NPF guidelines, for patients with active PsA and concomitant active IBD who are DMARD-naïve, monoclonal TNFi are the preferred choice.²⁰ In patients who are contraindicated for TNFi, IL-12/23i can be prescribed. The use of NSAIDs and IL-17i should be avoided, as they may exacerbate IBD symptoms.¹⁷⁷⁻¹⁷⁹ Interim analysis reports from a phase II study suggests that guselkumab could be effectively used in patients with Crohn's disease.¹⁸⁰ A long-term study on the efficacy of adalimumab in the treatment of patients with Crohn's disease with intolerance or inadequate response to infliximab reported sustained clinical remission and response with adalimumab maintenance therapy.¹⁸⁰

9.7 Uveitis

The management of concomitant uveitis in PsA patients varies depending on the severity of the disease and its impact on daily activities.¹⁸¹ Both infliximab and adalimumab are effective treatment options;¹⁸²⁻¹⁸⁴ certolizumab/golimumab has shown moderate success, while etanercept has demonstrated only limited success.¹⁸⁵ Secukinumab showed promising results in phase II clinical trials; however, it did not meet the primary efficacy endpoint in the phase III study.^{186, 187} The efficacy of IL-17i, IL-12/23i, and JAK/STAT inhibitors is currently under evaluation.^{186, 187}

9.8 Depression

The prevalence of depression and anxiety among patients with PsA is 9% to 36% and 15% to 30%, respectively.^{188, 189} As both depression and anxiety may affect pain perception, QoL, and treatment outcomes, it is important to take appropriate screening measures and treatment decisions in such patients. Apremilast should be used with caution in patients with PsA and comorbid depression.¹⁹⁰

9.9 Hyperuricemia and gout

Hyperuricemia is common in patients with PsA, especially in those with longer CVD, metabolic syndrome, and disease duration.des It is therefore important to regularly monitor serum uric acid levels in patients with PsA.¹⁹¹ Gout is an important differential diagnosis of PsA and, therefore, awareness about its increased incidence in this population is critical.¹⁷⁸

9.10 Hypothyroidism

Due to increased incident cases of hypothyroidism, thyroid dysfunction, positive AbTPO, and appearance of a hypoechoic thyroid pattern in patients with PsA, especially women, it is important to evaluate AbTPO levels, thyroid function, and thyroid, with regular follow-up visits.^{192, 193}

9.11 Osteoporosis

Screening for osteoporosis in psoriatic patients is performed by measuring bone mineral density through dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DEXA) or assessing the Fracture Risk Assessment (FRAX) score. For management, specific guidelines should be followed for patients treated with chronic systemic glucocorticoids, as it may modify bone mineral density due to bone loss.¹⁹⁴

9.12 Malignancy

Given the potential risk of de novo or recurrent malignancy being associated with the use of anti-TNF, regular screening is recommended, especially in patients with a history of cancer.18 In contrast, IL-17i, abatacept have a better safety profile for malignancy and are preferred treatment options in these patients.

9.13 Fatty liver disease

Liver disease, particularly NAFLD, has an increased prevalence in patients with psoriasis and PsA.¹⁹⁵ Given the potential risk of liver damage with specific PsA treatments, regular monitoring of liver function abnormalities is deemed necessary. Liver biopsy should also be considered, based on the presence or absence of risk factors for hepatotoxicity and cumulative methotrexate dose.^{18, 20} Furthermore, caution should be taken when prescribing methotrexate, leflunomide, sulfasalazine, and NSAIDs in patients with established liver disease due to the increased risk of hepatotoxicity.

9.14 Chronic kidney disease

Methotrexate should be avoided in patients with significant renal insufficiency or end-stage renal disease on hemodialysis, given that renal impairment is a major risk factor for developing methotrexate toxicity.¹⁹⁶ NSAIDs should also be avoided, given that they may increase the risk for acute kidney injury.¹⁹⁷

9.15 Serious infections

There is a high risk of serious infections, including tuberculosis, hepatitis, and HIV, associated with the use of certain PsA treatments—including TNF inhibitors.18 Due to the low incidence of serious infections observed with IL-12/23i, IL-17i, and abatacept in comparison to anti-TNFs, the former are preferred treatment options for PsA.¹⁸

9.16 Immunization

Immunization status of the patient should be assessed. Routine vaccination for pertussis and inactivated influenza, pneumococcal, and HBV (in high-risk patients and in highly prevalent regions) should be performed at baseline.¹⁸ Consensus statements on the management of comorbidities in patients with PsA are presented in Table 9.

Table 9: Consensus Statements on Management of Comorbidities

| COMORBID CONDITION/S | TREATMENT OPTIONS/REFERRAL/ MONITORING | TREATMENT REQUIRING CAUTION |
|---|---|--|
| Cardiovascular disease and congestive heart failure | JAKi, ustekinumab, IL-17i, IL-23i, abatacept ¹⁶⁷⁻¹⁷⁰ | NSAIDs, GCCs, TNFi (TNFi should be avoided in patients with severe CHF [NYHA classes III and IV] and should be used with caution in patients with mild CHF [NYHA classes I and II]) ^{18, 123, 198, 199} |
| Obesity and metabolic syndrome | Weight reduction, nutritionist referral, obesity/endocrine clinic referral | MTX, GCCs ¹⁸ |
| Hypercholesterolemia | Lipid-lowering agents, nutritionist referral | Tofacitinib ¹⁷² |
| Hypertension | Statins, angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors, and/or angiotensin II blockers ¹⁸ | NSAIDs, GCCs ¹⁸ |
| Diabetes mellitus | Hypoglycemic medications | MTX, GCCs ¹⁸ |
| IBD | TNFi (excluding etanercept) for UC (tofacitinib, IL-12/23i) IL23i ¹⁷⁹ | IL-17i |
| Uveitis | TNFi (especially adalimumab and infliximab), MTX | NSAIDs, IL-17i ²⁰⁰ |
| Depression | Psychiatry referral | Apremilast |
| Hyperuricemia and Gout | Monitoring serum uric acid levels Urate-lowering therapy | |
| Thyroid disease | Routine thyroid tests/endocrine referral | |
| Osteoporosis | Monitor with DEXA as indicated in non-PsA patients | GCCs |
| Malignancy | Oncology referral, IL-17i, abatacept | All biological agents |
| Fatty liver disease | GI referral, Weight loss, Dietician referral | NSAIDs, SSZ, MTX, LEF, Tofacitinib ²⁴ |
| Chronic kidney disease | Nephrologist referral | NSAIDs, MTX ¹²³ |
| HBV | Ustekinumab GI referral, monitor Hep B PCR (once in a month for first 3 months and every 3 months thereafter) ²⁰¹ | NSAIDs, MTX, LEF, biologics (for carriers) ¹²³ |
| нсv | GI referral, monitor Hep C PCR (once in every 3-6 months) ²⁰¹ | NSAIDs, MTX, LEF biologics (for carriers) ¹²³ |
| Tuberculosis | IL-17i, abatacept, referral to respiratory physician or infectious disease specialist | TNFi, especially infliximab |

CHF: Congestive heart failure; DEXA: Dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry; HBV: Hepatitis B virus; HCV: Hepatitis C virus; GCCs: Glucocorticoids; GI: Gastrointestinal; IL-12/23i: Interleukin-12/23 inhibitor; IL-17i: Interleukin-17 inhibitor; IL-23i: Interleukin-23 inhibitor; JAKi: Janus kinase inhibitor; LEF: Leflunomide; MTX: Methotrexate; NSAIDs: Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs; NHYA: New York Heart Association; SSZ: Sulfasalazine; TNFi: Tumor necrosis factor inhibitor; PCR: Polymerase chain reaction.

10. Conclusion

The present consensus statements are in corroboration to established global guidelines on the different aspects of PsA, especially highlighting the evaluation, management and monitoring of therapies in patients with PsA. There is a scarcity of such consensus-based statements in the Arab world. Furthermore, present consensus statements are aligned with the most recently published Saudi consensus recommendations.²⁰² This consensus recommendation can help the physicians and healthcare professionals in UAE to make informed treatment decisions, improvise treatment strategies, monitor therapies, as well as effectively manage comorbidities in patients with PsA.

11. Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank Dr Arun Jayarame Gowda and Dr Kavitha Ganesha from IQVIA for providing medical writing support. The authors are fully responsible for all the content and editorial decisions; the authors have involved themselves at all stages of manuscript development and approved the final version.

12. References

- Gladman DD, Antoni C, Mease P, Clegg DO, Nash P. Psoriatic arthritis: epidemiology, clinical features, course, and outcome. Ann Rheum Dis. 2005;64 Suppl 2:ii14-7.
- Stolwijk C, van Onna M, Boonen A, van Tubergen A. Global Prevalence of Spondyloarthritis: A Systematic Review and Meta-Regression Analysis. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2016;68(9):1320-31.
- Alamanos Y, Voulgari PV, Drosos AA. Incidence and prevalence of psoriatic arthritis: a systematic review. J Rheumatol. 2008;35(7):1354-8.
- Gelfand JM, Gladman DD, Mease PJ, et al. Epidemiology of psoriatic arthritis in the population of the United States. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2005;53(4):573.
- Al-Awadhi AM, Olusi SO, Moussa M, et al. Musculoskeletal pain, disability and health-seeking behavior in adult Kuwaitis using a validated Arabic version of the WHO-ILAR COPCORD Core Questionnaire. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2004;22(2):177-83.
- Al Saleh J, Sayed ME, Monsef N, Darwish E. The Prevalence and the Determinants of Musculoskeletal Diseases in Emiratis Attending Primary Health Care Clinics in Dubai. Oman Med J. 2016;31(2):117-23.
- Wilson FC, Icen M, Crowson CS, McEvoy MT, Gabriel SE, Kremers HM. Incidence and clinical predictors of psoriatic arthritis in patients with psoriasis: a population-based study. Arthritis Rheum. 2009;61(2):233-9.
- 8. Thumboo J, Uramoto K, Shbeeb MI, et al. Risk factors for the development of psoriatic arthritis: a population based nested case control study. J Rheumatol. 2002;29(4):757-62.
- 9. Tey HL, Ee HL, Tan AS, Theng TS, Wong SN, Khoo SW. Risk factors associated with having psoriatic arthritis in patients with cutaneous psoriasis. J Dermatol. 2010;37(5):426-30.
- Kane D, Stafford L, Bresnihan B, FitzGerald O. A prospective, clinical and radiological study of early psoriatic arthritis: an early synovitis clinic experience. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2003;42(12):1460-8.
- Kimball AB, Gladman D, Gelfand JM, et al. National Psoriasis Foundation clinical consensus on psoriasis comorbidities and recommendations for screening. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2008;58(6):1031-42.
- 12. Husni ME, Merola JF, Davin S. The psychosocial burden of psoriatic arthritis. Semin Arthritis Rheum. 2017;47(3):351-60.
- Crown WH, Bresnahan BW, Orsini LS, Kennedy S, Leonardi C. The burden of illness associated with psoriasis: cost of treatment with systemic therapy and phototherapy in the US. Curr Med Res Opin. 2004;20(12):1929-36.
- 14. Lai TL, Yim CW, Wong PY, Leung MC, Ng WL. Hyperuricemia

in Asian psoriatic arthritis patients. Int J Rheum Dis. 2018;21(4):843-9.

- Felten R, Duret PM, Gottenberg JE, Spielmann L, Messer L. At the crossroads of gout and psoriatic arthritis: "psout". Clin Rheumatol. 2020;39(5):1405-13.
- Betteridge N, Boehncke WH, Bundy C, Gossec L, Gratacos J, Augustin M. Promoting patient-centred care in psoriatic arthritis: a multidisciplinary European perspective on improving the patient experience. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol. 2016;30(4):576-85.
- Lubrano E, Scriffignano S, Azuaga AB, Ramirez J, Canete JD, Perrotta FM. Impact of Comorbidities on Disease Activity, Patient Global Assessment, and Function in Psoriatic Arthritis: A Cross-Sectional Study. Rheumatol Ther. 2020;7(4):825-36.
- Coates LC, Kavanaugh A, Mease PJ, et al. Group for Research and Assessment of Psoriasis and Psoriatic Arthritis 2015 Treatment Recommendations for Psoriatic Arthritis. Arthritis Rheumatol. 2016;68(5):1060-71.
- Gossec L, Baraliakos X, Kerschbaumer A, et al. EULAR recommendations for the management of psoriatic arthritis with pharmacological therapies: 2019 update. Ann Rheum Dis. 2020;79(6):700-12.
- 20. Singh JA, Guyatt G, Ogdie A, et al. Special Article: 2018 American College of Rheumatology/National Psoriasis Foundation Guideline for the Treatment of Psoriatic Arthritis. Arthritis Rheumatol. 2019;71(1):5-32.
- 21. Abdulghani M, Al Sheik A, Alkhawajah M, et al. Management of psoriasis in Africa and the Middle East: a review of current opinion, practice and opportunities for improvement. J Int Med Res. 2011;39(5):1573-88.
- 22. Bedaiwi M, Al-Homood IA, El-Garf A, et al. Disease burden and treatment challenges of psoriatic arthritis in Africa and the Middle East. Rheumatol Int. 2019;39(8):1321-9.
- Coates LC, Corp N, van der Windt DA, O'Sullivan D, Soriano ER, Kavanaugh A. GRAPPA Treatment Recommendations: 2021 Update. J Rheumatol. 2022;49(6 Suppl 1):52-4.
- 24. Hamadah IR, Al Raddadi AA, Bahamdan KA, et al. Saudi practical guidelines on biologic treatment of psoriasis. J Dermatolog Treat. 2015;26(3):223-9.
- 25. Ritchlin CT, Kavanaugh A, Merola JF, et al. Bimekizumab in patients with active psoriatic arthritis: results from a 48-week, randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, doseranging phase 2b trial. Lancet. 2020;395(10222):427-40.
- Eberl G, Studnicka-Benke A, Hitzelhammer H, Gschnait F, Smolen JS. Development of a disease activity index for the assessment of reactive arthritis (DAREA). Rheumatology (Oxford). 2000;39(2):148-55.

- Schoels M, Aletaha D, Funovits J, Kavanaugh A, Baker D, Smolen JS. Application of the DAREA/DAPSA score for assessment of disease activity in psoriatic arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis. 2010;69(8):1441-7.
- 28. Nell-Duxneuner VP, Stamm TA, Machold KP, Pflugbeil S, Aletaha D, Smolen JS. Evaluation of the appropriateness of composite disease activity measures for assessment of psoriatic arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis. 2010;69(3):546-9.
- Salaffi F, Ciapetti A, Carotti M, Gasparini S, Gutierrez M. Disease activity in psoriatic arthritis: comparison of the discriminative capacity and construct validity of six composite indices in a real world. Biomed Res Int. 2014;2014:528105.
- Wong PC, Leung YY, Li EK, Tam LS. Measuring disease activity in psoriatic arthritis. Int J Rheumatol. 2012;2012:839425.
- 31. Mumtaz A, Gallagher P, Kirby B, et al. Development of a preliminary composite disease activity index in psoriatic arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis. 2011;70(2):272-7.
- Helliwell PS, Kavanaugh A. Comparison of composite measures of disease activity in psoriatic arthritis using data from an interventional study with golimumab. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2014;66(5):749-56.
- Helliwell PS, FitzGerald O, Fransen J, et al. The development of candidate composite disease activity and responder indices for psoriatic arthritis (GRACE project). Ann Rheum Dis. 2013;72(6):986-91.
- 34. Helliwell P, Coates LC, FitzGerald O, et al. Disease-specific composite measures for psoriatic arthritis are highly responsive to a Janus kinase inhibitor treatment that targets multiple domains of disease. Arthritis Res Ther. 2018;20(1):242.
- 35. Gladman DD, Mease PJ, Healy P, et al. Outcome measures in psoriatic arthritis. J Rheumatol. 2007;34(5):1159-66.
- Clegg DO, Reda DJ, Mejias E, et al. Comparison of sulfasalazine and placebo in the treatment of psoriatic arthritis. A Department of Veterans Affairs Cooperative Study. Arthritis Rheum. 1996;39(12):2013-20.
- Mease PJ, Goffe BS, Metz J, VanderStoep A, Finck B, Burge DJ. Etanercept in the treatment of psoriatic arthritis and psoriasis: a randomised trial. Lancet. 2000;356(9227):385-90.
- Kaltwasser JP, Nash P, Gladman D, et al. Efficacy and safety of leflunomide in the treatment of psoriatic arthritis and psoriasis: a multinational, double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled clinical trial. Arthritis Rheum. 2004;50(6):1939-50.
- 39. Coates LC, Strand V, Wilson H, et al. Measurement properties of the minimal disease activity criteria for psoriatic arthritis. RMD Open. 2019;5(2):e001002.
- 40. Gossec L, McGonagle D, Korotaeva T, et al. Minimal Disease

Activity as a Treatment Target in Psoriatic Arthritis: A Review of the Literature. J Rheumatol. 2018;45(1):6-13.

- 41. Coates LC, Helliwell PS. Validation of minimal disease activity criteria for psoriatic arthritis using interventional trial data. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2010;62(7):965-9.
- Coates LC, Rahman P, Psaradellis E, et al. Validation of new potential targets for remission and low disease activity in psoriatic arthritis in patients treated with golimumab. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2019;58(3):522-6.
- Lipton S DA. The new ASAS classification criteria for axial and peripheral spondyloarthritis: promises and pitfalls. . International Journal of Clinical Rheumatology. 2012;7(6):675.
- van der Heijde D, Lie E, Kvien TK, et al. ASDAS, a highly discriminatory ASAS-endorsed disease activity score in patients with ankylosing spondylitis. Ann Rheum Dis. 2009;68(12):1811-8.
- 45. Rudwaleit M, van der Heijde D, Landewe R, et al. The development of Assessment of SpondyloArthritis international Society classification criteria for axial spondyloarthritis (part II): validation and final selection. Ann Rheum Dis. 2009;68(6):777-83.
- 46. Akgul O, Ozgocmen S. Classification criteria for spondyloarthropathies. World J Orthop. 2011;2(12):107-15.
- 47. Wervers K, Luime JJ, Tchetverikov I, et al. Comparison of disease activity measures in early psoriatic arthritis in usual care. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2019;58(12):2251-9.
- 48. Mease P. Psoriatic arthritis and spondyloarthritis assessment and management update. Curr Opin Rheumatol. 2013;25(3):287-96.
- 49. Kilic G, Kilic E, Nas K, et al. Comparison of ASDAS and BASDAI as a measure of disease activity in axial psoriatic arthritis. Clin Rheumatol. 2015;34(3):515-21.
- 50. Machado P, Landewe R, Lie E, et al. Ankylosing Spondylitis Disease Activity Score (ASDAS): defining cut-off values for disease activity states and improvement scores. Ann Rheum Dis. 2011;70(1):47-53.
- 51. Orbai AM, Ogdie A. Patient-Reported Outcomes in Psoriatic Arthritis. Rheum Dis Clin North Am. 2016;42(2):265-83.
- Li W, Han J, Qureshi AA. Smoking and risk of incident psoriatic arthritis in US women. Ann Rheum Dis. 2012;71(6):804-8.
- Ogdie A, Gelfand JM. Clinical Risk Factors for the Development of Psoriatic Arthritis Among Patients with Psoriasis: A Review of Available Evidence. Curr Rheumatol Rep. 2015;17(10):64.
- Wu S, Cho E, Li WQ, Han J, Qureshi AA. Alcohol intake and risk of incident psoriatic arthritis in women. J Rheumatol. 2015;42(5):835-40.
- 55. Behrens F, Finkenwirth C, Pavelka K, et al. Leflunomide in psoriatic arthritis: results from a large European

prospective observational study. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2013;65(3):464-70.

- Mease PJ, Smolen JS, Behrens F, et al. A head-to-head comparison of the efficacy and safety of ixekizumab and adalimumab in biological-naive patients with active psoriatic arthritis: 24-week results of a randomised, openlabel, blinded-assessor trial. Ann Rheum Dis. 2020;79(1):123-31.
- Deodhar A, Helliwell PS, Boehncke WH, et al. Guselkumab in patients with active psoriatic arthritis who were biologic-naive or had previously received TNFalpha inhibitor treatment (DISCOVER-1): a double-blind, randomised, placebo-controlled phase 3 trial. Lancet. 2020;395(10230):1115-25.
- 58. Kumthekar A, Ogdie A. Obesity and Psoriatic Arthritis: A Narrative Review. Rheumatol Ther. 2020;7(3):447-56.
- 59. Russolillo A, Iervolino S, Peluso R, et al. Obesity and psoriatic arthritis: from pathogenesis to clinical outcome and management. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2013;52(1):62-7.
- 60. Almodovar R, Zarco P, Oton T, Carmona L. Effect of weight loss on activity in psoriatic arthritis: A systematic review. Reumatol Clin (Engl Ed). 2018;14(4):207-10.
- Klingberg E, Bilberg A, Bjorkman S, et al. Weight loss improves disease activity in patients with psoriatic arthritis and obesity: an interventional study. Arthritis Res Ther. 2019;21(1):17.
- 62. Mahil SK, McSweeney SM, Kloczko E, McGowan B, Barker JN, Smith CH. Does weight loss reduce the severity and incidence of psoriasis or psoriatic arthritis? A Critically Appraised Topic. Br J Dermatol. 2019;181(5):946-53.
- 63. Naldi L, Conti A, Cazzaniga S, et al. Diet and physical exercise in psoriasis: a randomized controlled trial. Br J Dermatol. 2014;170(3):634-42.
- Adawi M, Damiani G, Bragazzi NL, et al. The Impact of Intermittent Fasting (Ramadan Fasting) on Psoriatic Arthritis Disease Activity, Enthesitis, and Dactylitis: A Multicentre Study. Nutrients. 2019;11(3).
- 65. Sokka T, Hakkinen A, Kautiainen H, et al. Physical inactivity in patients with rheumatoid arthritis: data from twenty-one countries in a cross-sectional, international study. Arthritis Rheum. 2008;59(1):42-50.
- Baillet A, Zeboulon N, Gossec L, et al. Efficacy of cardiorespiratory aerobic exercise in rheumatoid arthritis: meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2010;62(7):984-92.
- 67. Siegel P, Tencza M, Apodaca B, Poole JL. Effectiveness of Occupational Therapy Interventions for Adults With Rheumatoid Arthritis: A Systematic Review. Am J Occup Ther. 2017;71(1):7101180050p1-p11.
- 68. Tillett W, Jadon D, Shaddick G, et al. Smoking and delay to diagnosis are associated with poorer functional outcome in

psoriatic arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis. 2013;72(8):1358-61.

- 69. Saag KG, Cerhan JR, Kolluri S, Ohashi K, Hunninghake GW, Schwartz DA. Cigarette smoking and rheumatoid arthritis severity. Ann Rheum Dis. 1997;56(8):463-9.
- Soderlin MK, Petersson IF, Geborek P. The effect of smoking on response and drug survival in rheumatoid arthritis patients treated with their first anti-TNF drug. Scand J Rheumatol. 2012;41(1):1-9.
- Rojas-Serrano J, Perez LL, Garcia CG, et al. Current smoking status is associated to a non-ACR 50 response in early rheumatoid arthritis. A cohort study. Clin Rheumatol. 2011;30(12):1589-93.
- 72. Saevarsdottir S, Wedren S, Seddighzadeh M, et al. Patients with early rheumatoid arthritis who smoke are less likely to respond to treatment with methotrexate and tumor necrosis factor inhibitors: observations from the Epidemiological Investigation of Rheumatoid Arthritis and the Swedish Rheumatology Register cohorts. Arthritis Rheum. 2011;63(1):26-36.
- 73. Roelsgaard IK, Ikdahl E, Rollefstad S, et al. Smoking cessation is associated with lower disease activity and predicts cardiovascular risk reduction in rheumatoid arthritis patients. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2020;59(8):1997-2004.
- 74. Strohal R, Kirby B, Puig L, et al. Psoriasis beyond the skin: an expert group consensus on the management of psoriatic arthritis and common co-morbidities in patients with moderate-to-severe psoriasis. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol. 2014;28(12):1661-9.
- 75. Gezer O, Batmaz I, Sariyildiz MA, et al. Sleep quality in patients with psoriatic arthritis. Int J Rheum Dis. 2017;20(9):1212-8.
- 76. Kotsis K, Voulgari PV, Tsifetaki N, et al. Anxiety and depressive symptoms and illness perceptions in psoriatic arthritis and associations with physical healthrelated quality of life. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2012;64(10):1593-601.
- 77. Zhao SS, Miller N, Harrison N, Duffield SJ, Dey M, Goodson NJ. Systematic review of mental health comorbidities in psoriatic arthritis. Clin Rheumatol. 2020;39(1):217-25.
- 78. Knittle K, Maes S, de Gucht V. Psychological interventions for rheumatoid arthritis: examining the role of selfregulation with a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2010;62(10):1460-72.
- 79. Kaufman MB. European Commission Approves Upadacitinib for Psoriatic Arthritis & Ankylosing Spondylitis Available from:. https://www.the-rheumatologist.org/article/ european-commission-approves-upadacitinib-for-psoriaticarthritis-ankylosing-spondylitis/. The Rheumatologist. 2021.
- 80. Boehncke WH, Brembilla NC, Nissen MJ. Guselkumab: the

First Selective IL-23 Inhibitor for Active Psoriatic Arthritis in Adults. Expert Rev Clin Immunol. 2021;17(1):5-13.

- van der Heijde D, Baraliakos X, Gensler LS, et al. Efficacy and safety of filgotinib, a selective Janus kinase 1 inhibitor, in patients with active ankylosing spondylitis (TORTUGA): results from a randomised, placebo-controlled, phase 2 trial. Lancet. 2018;392(10162):2378-87.
- AbbVie Announces First Regulatory Approval of SKYRIZI™ (risankizumab) for the Treatment of Plaque Psoriasis, Generalized Pustular Psoriasis and Erythrodermic Psoriasis and Psoriatic Arthritis in Japan [press release]. 2019.
- Mease PJ, Helliwell PS, Hjuler KF, Raymond K, McInnes I. Brodalumab in psoriatic arthritis: results from the randomised phase III AMVISION-1 and AMVISION-2 trials. Ann Rheum Dis. 2021;80(2):185-93.
- 84. Philip Mease AD, Désirée van der Heijde, Frank Behrens , Alan Kivitz, Jonghyeon Kim, Shalabh Singhal MNaSB, editors. Efficacy and Safety of Deucravacitinib (BMS-986165), an Oral, Selective Tyrosine Kinase 2 Inhibitor, in Patients with Active Psoriatic Arthritis: Results from a Phase 2, Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled Trial. ACR Convergence 2020; 2020.
- Goodman SM, Cronstein BN, Bykerk VP. Outcomes related to methotrexate dose and route of administration in patients with rheumatoid arthritis: a systematic literature review. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2015;33(2):272-8.
- Ceponis A, Kavanaugh A. Use of methotrexate in patients with psoriatic arthritis. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2010;28(5 Suppl 61):S132-7.
- 87. Elmamoun M, Chandran V. Role of Methotrexate in the Management of Psoriatic Arthritis. Drugs. 2018;78(6):611-9.
- 88. Gupta AK, Grober JS, Hamilton TA, et al. Sulfasalazine therapy for psoriatic arthritis: a double blind, placebo controlled trial. J Rheumatol. 1995;22(5):894-8.
- 89. Mulder MLM, Vriezekolk JE, den Broeder N, et al. Comparing methotrexate monotherapy with methotrexate plus leflunomide combination therapy in psoriatic arthritis: protocol of a randomized, placebo-controlled, double-blind clinical trial (COMPLETE-PsA). Trials. 2020;21(1):155.
- Cutolo M, Myerson GE, Fleischmann RM, et al. A Phase III, Randomized, Controlled Trial of Apremilast in Patients with Psoriatic Arthritis: Results of the PALACE 2 Trial. J Rheumatol. 2016;43(9):1724-34.
- 91. Kavanaugh A, Mease PJ, Gomez-Reino JJ, et al. Treatment of psoriatic arthritis in a phase 3 randomised, placebocontrolled trial with apremilast, an oral phosphodiesterase 4 inhibitor. Ann Rheum Dis. 2014;73(6):1020-6.
- 92. Wells AF AA, Kivitz A, Bird P, Shah K, et al, editor Apremilast in the treatment of DMARD-naïve psoriatic arthritis patients: results of a phase 3 randomized, controlled trial (PALACE 4). 2013 ACR/ARHP Annual Meeting; 2013.

- 93. Edwards CJ, Blanco FJ, Crowley J, et al. Apremilast, an oral phosphodiesterase 4 inhibitor, in patients with psoriatic arthritis and current skin involvement: a phase III, randomised, controlled trial (PALACE 3). Ann Rheum Dis. 2016;75(6):1065-73.
- 94. Wells AF, Edwards CJ, Kivitz AJ, et al. Apremilast monotherapy in DMARD-naive psoriatic arthritis patients: results of the randomized, placebo-controlled PALACE 4 trial. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2018;57(7):1253-63.
- 95. Ly K, Beck KM, Smith MP, Orbai AM, Liao W. Tofacitinib in the management of active psoriatic arthritis: patient selection and perspectives. Psoriasis (Auckl). 2019;9:97-107.
- Kang EJ, Kavanaugh A. Psoriatic arthritis: latest treatments and their place in therapy. Ther Adv Chronic Dis. 2015;6(4):194-203.
- 97. D'Angelo S, Tramontano G, Gilio M, Leccese P, Olivieri I. Review of the treatment of psoriatic arthritis with biological agents: choice of drug for initial therapy and switch therapy for non-responders. Open Access Rheumatol. 2017;9:21-8.
- Savage LJ, Wittmann M, McGonagle D, Helliwell PS. Ustekinumab in the Treatment of Psoriasis and Psoriatic Arthritis. Rheumatol Ther. 2015;2(1):1-16.
- 99. Nash P, Kirkham B, Okada M, et al. Ixekizumab for the treatment of patients with active psoriatic arthritis and an inadequate response to tumour necrosis factor inhibitors: results from the 24-week randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled period of the SPIRIT-P2 phase 3 trial. Lancet. 2017;389(10086):2317-27.
- 100. Nash P, Mease PJ, McInnes IB, et al. Efficacy and safety of secukinumab administration by autoinjector in patients with psoriatic arthritis: results from a randomized, placebocontrolled trial (FUTURE 3). Arthritis Res Ther. 2018;20(1):47.
- 101. USFDA. TREMFYA (guselkumab) injection, for subcutaneous use. Administration USFDA. 2017. In: Biotech J, editor. wwwtremfyacom: www.tremfya.com.; 2017.
- 102. EMA. Skyrizi. Available from https://www.ema.europa. eu/en/medic ines/human/ EPAR/skyrizi. https:// wwwemaeuropaeu/. ema.europa.eu/medicines/human/ EPAR/Skyrizi: ema.europa.eu/medicines/human/EPAR/ Skyrizi; 2019.
- 103. USFDA. Approves Second Indication for SKYRIZI® (risankizumab-rzaa) to Treat Adults with Active Psoriatic Arthritis2022. Available from: https://news.abbvie.com/ news/press-releases/us-fda-approves-second-indicationfor-skyrizi-risankizumab-rzaa-to-treat-adults-with-activepsoriatic-arthritis.htm.
- 104. Zizzo G, Gremese E, Ferraccioli G. Abatacept in the treatment of psoriatic arthritis: biological and clinical profiles of the responders. Immunotherapy. 2018;10(9):807-21.
- 105. Chingcuanco F, Segal JB, Kim SC, Alexander GC. Bioequivalence of Biosimilar Tumor Necrosis Factor-alpha

Inhibitors Compared With Their Reference Biologics: A Systematic Review. Ann Intern Med. 2016;165(8):565-74.

- 106. Cohen S, Kay J. Biosimilars: implications for rheumatoid arthritis therapy. Curr Opin Rheumatol. 2017;29(3):260-8.
- 107. EMA. Biosimilars in EU; 2017. Available from: https://www. ema.europa.eu/en/documents/leaflet/biosimilars-euinformation-guide-healthcare-professionals_en.pdf. 2019.
- 108. Kabir ER, Moreino SS, Sharif Siam MK. The Breakthrough of Biosimilars: A Twist in the Narrative of Biological Therapy. Biomolecules. 2019;9(9):410.
- 109. Clegg DO, Reda DJ, Abdellatif M. Comparison of sulfasalazine and placebo for the treatment of axial and peripheral articular manifestations of the seronegative spondylarthropathies: a Department of Veterans Affairs cooperative study. Arthritis Rheum. 1999;42(11):2325-9.
- 110. Genovese MC, Mease PJ, Thomson GT, et al. Safety and efficacy of adalimumab in treatment of patients with psoriatic arthritis who had failed disease modifying antirheumatic drug therapy. J Rheumatol. 2007;34(5):1040-50.
- 111. Mease PJ, Kivitz AJ, Burch FX, et al. Continued inhibition of radiographic progression in patients with psoriatic arthritis following 2 years of treatment with etanercept. J Rheumatol. 2006;33(4):712-21.
- 112. Mease PJ, Kivitz AJ, Burch FX, et al. Etanercept treatment of psoriatic arthritis: safety, efficacy, and effect on disease progression. Arthritis Rheum. 2004;50(7):2264-72.
- 113. Antoni CE, Kavanaugh A, van der Heijde D, et al. Two-year efficacy and safety of infliximab treatment in patients with active psoriatic arthritis: findings of the Infliximab Multinational Psoriatic Arthritis Controlled Trial (IMPACT). J Rheumatol. 2008;35(5):869-76.
- 114. Kavanaugh A, Krueger GG, Beutler A, et al. Infliximab maintains a high degree of clinical response in patients with active psoriatic arthritis through 1 year of treatment: results from the IMPACT 2 trial. Ann Rheum Dis. 2007;66(4):498-505.
- 115. Acosta-Felquer ML, Rosa J, Soriano ER. An evidence-based review of certolizumab pegol in the treatment of active psoriatic arthritis: place in therapy. Open Access Rheumatol. 2016;8:37-44.
- 116. Esposito M, Carubbi F, Giunta A, Alunno A, Giacomelli R, Fargnoli MC. Certolizumab pegol for the treatment of psoriatic arthritis and plaque psoriasis. Expert Rev Clin Immunol. 2020;16(2):119-28.
- 117. Weinblatt ME, Bingham CO, 3rd, Mendelsohn AM, et al. Intravenous golimumab is effective in patients with active rheumatoid arthritis despite methotrexate therapy with responses as early as week 2: results of the phase 3, randomised, multicentre, double-blind, placebo-controlled GO-FURTHER trial. Ann Rheum Dis. 2013;72(3):381-9.
- 118. Blair HA. Secukinumab: A Review in Psoriatic Arthritis. Drugs. 2021;81(4):483-94.

- 119. Company ELa. TALTZ (ixekizumab) injection, for subcutaneous use. 2016.
- 120. Ursini F, Russo E, De Giorgio R, De Sarro G, D'Angelo S. Current treatment options for psoriatic arthritis: spotlight on abatacept. Ther Clin Risk Manag. 2018;14:1053-9.
- 121. Mease PJ, Gottlieb AB, van der Heijde D, et al. Efficacy and safety of abatacept, a T-cell modulator, in a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase III study in psoriatic arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis. 2017;76(9):1550-8.
- 122. Deodhar A, Gottlieb AB, Boehncke WH, et al. Efficacy and safety of guselkumab in patients with active psoriatic arthritis: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 2 study. Lancet. 2018;391(10136):2213-24.
- 123. Coates LC, Corp N, van der Windt DA, Soriano ER, Kavanaugh A. GRAPPA Treatment Recommendations: An Update From the 2020 GRAPPA Annual Meeting. J Rheumatol. 2021.
- 124. van der Heijde D, Song IH, Pangan AL, et al. Efficacy and safety of upadacitinib in patients with active ankylosing spondylitis (SELECT-AXIS 1): a multicentre, randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 2/3 trial. Lancet. 2019;394(10214):2108-17.
- 125. Atul Deodhar RR, Fabiana Ganz, Tianming Gao, Jaclyn K Anderson and Andrew Östör, editor Efficacy and Safety of Upadacitinib in Patients with Psoriatic Arthritis and Axial Involvement. ACR Convergence; 2020: Arthritis Rheumatol.
- 126. Baeten D, Sieper J, Braun J, et al. Secukinumab, an Interleukin-17A Inhibitor, in Ankylosing Spondylitis. N Engl J Med. 2015;373(26):2534-48.
- 127. Mease PJ, Lertratanakul A, Anderson JK, et al. Upadacitinib for psoriatic arthritis refractory to biologics: SELECT-PsA 2. Ann Rheum Dis. 2021;80(3):312-20.
- 128. Agency EM. Xeljanz (tofacitinib). https://wwwemaeuropaeu/: https://www.ema.europa.eu/; 2021.
- 129. U.S. FDA Approves Pfizer's XELJANZ® (tofacitinib) for the Treatment of Active Ankylosing Spondylitis [press release]. www.xeljanzpi.com: Pfizer Laboratories Div Pfizer Inc2021.
- 130. MA PE. Xeljanz, INN-tofacitinib citrate European Medicines Agency Pfizer Europe MA.
- 131. Orbai AM, Weitz J, Siegel EL, et al. Systematic review of treatment effectiveness and outcome measures for enthesitis in psoriatic arthritis. J Rheumatol. 2014;41(11):2290-4.
- 132. Mease PJ, Gladman DD, Deodhar A, et al. Impact of guselkumab, an interleukin-23 p19 subunit inhibitor, on enthesitis and dactylitis in patients with moderate to severe psoriatic arthritis: results from a randomised, placebocontrolled, phase II study. RMD Open. 2020;6(2).
- 133. Koppikar S, Eder L. The management of enthesitis in clinical practice. Curr Opin Rheumatol. 2020;32(4):380-6.

- 134. Gladman DD, Kavanaugh A, Gomez-Reino JJ, et al. Therapeutic benefit of apremilast on enthesitis and dactylitis in patients with psoriatic arthritis: a pooled analysis of the PALACE 1-3 studies. RMD Open. 2018;4(1):e000669.
- 135. Coates LC, Wallman JK, McGonagle D, et al. Secukinumab efficacy on resolution of enthesitis in psoriatic arthritis: pooled analysis of two phase 3 studies. Arthritis Res Ther. 2019;21(1):266.
- 136. Nash P, Coates LC, Fleischmann R, et al. Efficacy of Tofacitinib for the Treatment of Psoriatic Arthritis: Pooled Analysis of Two Phase 3 Studies. Rheumatol Ther. 2018;5(2):567-82.
- 137. Kavanaugh A, Mease PJ, Reimold AM, et al. Secukinumab for Long-Term Treatment of Psoriatic Arthritis: A Two-Year Followup From a Phase III, Randomized, Double-Blind Placebo-Controlled Study. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2017;69(3):347-55.
- 138. Reich K, Warren RB, Coates LC, Di Comite G. Long-term efficacy and safety of secukinumab in the treatment of the multiple manifestations of psoriatic disease. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol. 2020;34(6):1161-73.
- 139. Ricceri F, Pescitelli L, Tripo L, Bassi A, Prignano F. Treatment of severe nail psoriasis with acitretin: an impressive therapeutic result. Dermatol Ther. 2013;26(1):77-8.
- 140. Lanna C, Cesaroni GM, Mazzilli S, et al. Apremilast as a target therapy for nail psoriasis: a real-life observational study proving its efficacy in restoring the nail unit. J Dermatolog Treat. 2022;33(2):1097-101.
- 141. Foley P, Gordon K, Griffiths CEM, et al. Efficacy of Guselkumab Compared With Adalimumab and Placebo for Psoriasis in Specific Body Regions: A Secondary Analysis of 2 Randomized Clinical Trials. JAMA Dermatol. 2018;154(6):676-83.
- 142. Gumusel M, Ozdemir M, Mevlitoglu I, Bodur S. Evaluation of the efficacy of methotrexate and cyclosporine therapies on psoriatic nails: a one-blind, randomized study. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol. 2011;25(9):1080-4.
- 143. Reich K, Puig L, Szepietowski JC, et al. Secukinumab dosing optimization in patients with moderate-to-severe plaque psoriasis: results from the randomized, open-label OPTIMISE study. Br J Dermatol. 2020;182(2):304-15.
- 144. Chiricozzi A, Panduri S, Dini V, Tonini A, Gualtieri B, Romanelli M. Optimizing acitretin use in patients with plaque psoriasis. Dermatol Ther. 2017;30(2).
- 145. Valenzuela F, Korman NJ, Bissonnette R, et al. Tofacitinib in patients with moderate-to-severe chronic plaque psoriasis: long-term safety and efficacy in an open-label extension study. Br J Dermatol. 2018;179(4):853-62.
- 146. Drvar DL, Vlahinic T, Males Z, Turcic P, Ceovic R. A modern approach to the treatment of plaque psoriasis. Acta Pharm. 2019;69(4):511-23.

- 147. Rogojan C, Hetland ML. Depigmentation--a rare side effect to intra-articular glucocorticoid treatment. Clin Rheumatol. 2004;23(4):373-5.
- 148. Sakellariou GT, Sayegh FE, Anastasilakis AD, Kapetanos GA. Leflunomide addition in patients with articular manifestations of psoriatic arthritis resistant to methotrexate. Rheumatol Int. 2013;33(11):2917-20.
- 149. Farr M, Kitas GD, Waterhouse L, Jubb R, Felix-Davies D, Bacon PA. Sulphasalazine in psoriatic arthritis: a double-blind placebo-controlled study. Br J Rheumatol. 1990;29(1):46-9.
- 150. Keskin Y, Koz G, Nas K. What Has Changed in the Treatment of Psoriatic Arthritis After COVID-19? Eurasian J Med. 2021;53(2):132-6.
- 151. Seo MR, Kim JW, Park EJ, et al. Recommendations for the management of patients with systemic rheumatic diseases during the coronavirus disease pandemic. Korean J Intern Med. 2020;35(6):1317-32.
- 152. Mease PJ, Gladman DD, Ritchlin CT, et al. Adalimumab for the treatment of patients with moderately to severely active psoriatic arthritis: results of a double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial. Arthritis Rheum. 2005;52(10):3279-89.
- 153. Mease PJ, Ory P, Sharp JT, et al. Adalimumab for longterm treatment of psoriatic arthritis: 2-year data from the Adalimumab Effectiveness in Psoriatic Arthritis Trial (ADEPT). Ann Rheum Dis. 2009;68(5):702-9.
- 154. van der Heijde D, Kavanaugh A, Gladman DD, et al. Infliximab inhibits progression of radiographic damage in patients with active psoriatic arthritis through one year of treatment: Results from the induction and maintenance psoriatic arthritis clinical trial 2. Arthritis Rheum. 2007;56(8):2698-707.
- 155. Antoni CE, Kavanaugh A, Kirkham B, et al. Sustained benefits of infliximab therapy for dermatologic and articular manifestations of psoriatic arthritis: results from the infliximab multinational psoriatic arthritis controlled trial (IMPACT). Arthritis Rheum. 2005;52(4):1227-36.
- 156. Antoni C, Krueger GG, de Vlam K, et al. Infliximab improves signs and symptoms of psoriatic arthritis: results of the IMPACT 2 trial. Ann Rheum Dis. 2005;64(8):1150-7.
- 157. Mease PJ, Fleischmann R, Deodhar AA, et al. Effect of certolizumab pegol on signs and symptoms in patients with psoriatic arthritis: 24-week results of a Phase 3 double-blind randomised placebo-controlled study (RAPID-PsA). Ann Rheum Dis. 2014;73(1):48-55.
- 158. Mease P, Deodhar A, Fleischmann R, et al. Effect of certolizumab pegol over 96 weeks in patients with psoriatic arthritis with and without prior antitumour necrosis factor exposure. RMD Open. 2015;1(1):e000119.
- 159. Kavanaugh A, McInnes IB, Mease P, et al. Clinical efficacy, radiographic and safety findings through 5 years of

subcutaneous golimumab treatment in patients with active psoriatic arthritis: results from a long-term extension of a randomised, placebo-controlled trial (the GO-REVEAL study). Ann Rheum Dis. 2014;73(9):1689-94.

- 160. McInnes IB, Kavanaugh A, Gottlieb AB, et al. Efficacy and safety of ustekinumab in patients with active psoriatic arthritis: 1 year results of the phase 3, multicentre, double-blind, placebo-controlled PSUMMIT 1 trial. Lancet. 2013;382(9894):780-9.
- 161. Deodhar A, Mease PJ, McInnes IB, et al. Long-term safety of secukinumab in patients with moderate-to-severe plaque psoriasis, psoriatic arthritis, and ankylosing spondylitis: integrated pooled clinical trial and post-marketing surveillance data. Arthritis Res Ther. 2019;21(1):111.
- 162. Mease PJ, van der Heijde D, Ritchlin CT, et al. Ixekizumab, an interleukin-17A specific monoclonal antibody, for the treatment of biologic-naive patients with active psoriatic arthritis: results from the 24-week randomised, doubleblind, placebo-controlled and active (adalimumab)controlled period of the phase III trial SPIRIT-P1. Ann Rheum Dis. 2017;76(1):79-87.
- 163. Mease PJ, Rahman P, Gottlieb AB, et al. Guselkumab in biologic-naive patients with active psoriatic arthritis (DISCOVER-2): a double-blind, randomised, placebocontrolled phase 3 trial. Lancet. 2020;395(10230):1126-36.
- 164. Sunzini F, McInnes I, Siebert S. JAK inhibitors and infections risk: focus on herpes zoster. Ther Adv Musculoskelet Dis. 2020;12:1759720X20936059.
- 165. Ogdie A, Yu Y, Haynes K, et al. Risk of major cardiovascular events in patients with psoriatic arthritis, psoriasis and rheumatoid arthritis: a population-based cohort study. Ann Rheum Dis. 2015;74(2):326-32.
- 166. Husted JA, Thavaneswaran A, Chandran V, et al. Cardiovascular and other comorbidities in patients with psoriatic arthritis: a comparison with patients with psoriasis. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2011;63(12):1729-35.
- 167. Xie W, Xiao S, Huang Y, Sun X, Zhang Z. Effect of tofacitinib on cardiovascular events and all-cause mortality in patients with immune-mediated inflammatory diseases: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Ther Adv Musculoskelet Dis. 2019;11:1759720X19895492.
- 168. Lee MP, Desai RJ, Jin Y, Brill G, Ogdie A, Kim SC. Association of Ustekinumab vs TNF Inhibitor Therapy With Risk of Atrial Fibrillation and Cardiovascular Events in Patients With Psoriasis or Psoriatic Arthritis. JAMA Dermatol. 2019;155(6):700-7.
- 169. Ramonda R, Lorenzin M, Carriero A, et al. Effectiveness and safety of secukinumab in 608 patients with psoriatic arthritis in real life: a 24-month prospective, multicentre study. RMD Open. 2021;7(1).
- 170. Kang EH, Jin Y, Brill G, et al. Comparative Cardiovascular Risk of Abatacept and Tumor Necrosis Factor Inhibitors

in Patients With Rheumatoid Arthritis With and Without Diabetes Mellitus: A Multidatabase Cohort Study. J Am Heart Assoc. 2018;7(3).

- 171. Coates LC, Corp N, van der Windt DA, Soriano ER, Kavanaugh A. GRAPPA Treatment Recommendations: An Update From the 2020 GRAPPA Annual Meeting. J Rheumatol Suppl. 2021;97:65-6.
- 172. Gladman DD, Charles-Schoeman C, McInnes IB, et al. Changes in Lipid Levels and Incidence of Cardiovascular Events Following Tofacitinib Treatment in Patients With Psoriatic Arthritis: A Pooled Analysis Across Phase III and Long-Term Extension Studies. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2019;71(10):1387-95.
- 173. Zhu TY, Li EK, Tam LS. Cardiovascular risk in patients with psoriatic arthritis. Int J Rheumatol. 2012;2012:714321.
- 174. Dal Bello G, Gisondi P, Idolazzi L, Girolomoni G. Psoriatic Arthritis and Diabetes Mellitus: A Narrative Review. Rheumatol Ther. 2020;7(2):271-85.
- 175. Li WQ, Han JL, Chan AT, Qureshi AA. Psoriasis, psoriatic arthritis and increased risk of incident Crohn's disease in US women. Ann Rheum Dis. 2013;72(7):1200-5.
- 176. Scarpa R, Manguso F, D'Arienzo A, et al. Microscopic inflammatory changes in colon of patients with both active psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis without bowel symptoms. J Rheumatol. 2000;27(5):1241-6.
- 177. Hohenberger M, Cardwell LA, Oussedik E, Feldman SR. Interleukin-17 inhibition: role in psoriasis and inflammatory bowel disease. J Dermatolog Treat. 2018;29(1):13-8.
- 178. Merola JF, Wu S, Han J, Choi HK, Qureshi AA. Psoriasis, psoriatic arthritis and risk of gout in US men and women. Ann Rheum Dis. 2015;74(8):1495-500.
- 179. Sandborn WJ, D'Haens GR, Reinisch W, et al. Guselkumab for the Treatment of Crohn's Disease: Induction Results From the Phase 2 GALAXI-1 Study. Gastroenterology. 2022;162(6):1650-64 e8.
- 180. Panaccione R, Sandborn WJ, D'Haens G, et al. Clinical Benefit of Long-Term Adalimumab Treatment in Patients With Crohn's Disease Following Loss of Response or Intolerance to Infliximab: 96-Week Efficacy Data From GAIN/ADHERE Trials. J Crohns Colitis. 2018;12(8):930-8.
- 181. Rosenbaum JT. Uveitis in spondyloarthritis including psoriatic arthritis, ankylosing spondylitis, and inflammatory bowel disease. Clin Rheumatol. 2015;34(6):999-1002.
- 182. 182. Rudwaleit M, Rodevand E, Holck P, et al. Adalimumab effectively reduces the rate of anterior uveitis flares in patients with active ankylosing spondylitis: results of a prospective open-label study. Ann Rheum Dis. 2009;68(5):696-701.
- 183. Fotiadou C, Lazaridou E, Kemanetzi C, Kyrmanidou E, Ioannides D. Recalcitrant psoriatic uveitis and antitumor necrosis factor-alpha monoclonal antibodies:

experience from a psoriasis referral center. Int J Dermatol. 2015;54(9):1105-8.

- 184. Guignard S, Gossec L, Salliot C, et al. Efficacy of tumour necrosis factor blockers in reducing uveitis flares in patients with spondylarthropathy: a retrospective study. Ann Rheum Dis. 2006;65(12):1631-4.
- 185. Arepalli S, Rosenbaum JT. The use of biologics for uveitis associated with spondyloarthritis. Curr Opin Rheumatol. 2019;31(4):349-54.
- 186. Rosenbaum JT, Bodaghi B, Couto C, et al. New observations and emerging ideas in diagnosis and management of non-infectious uveitis: A review. Semin Arthritis Rheum. 2019;49(3):438-45.
- 187. Pepple KL, Lin P. Targeting Interleukin-23 in the Treatment of Noninfectious Uveitis. Ophthalmology. 2018;125(12):1977-83.
- 188. McDonough E, Ayearst R, Eder L, et al. Depression and anxiety in psoriatic disease: prevalence and associated factors. J Rheumatol. 2014;41(5):887-96.
- 189. Kamalaraj N, El-Haddad C, Hay P, Pile K. Systematic review of depression and anxiety in psoriatic arthritis. Int J Rheum Dis. 2019;22(6):967-73.
- 190. 190. Zerilli T, Ocheretyaner E. Apremilast (Otezla): A New Oral Treatment for Adults With Psoriasis and Psoriatic Arthritis. P T. 2015;40(8):495-500.
- 191. AlJohani R, Polachek A, Ye JY, Chandran V, Gladman DD. Characteristic and Outcome of Psoriatic Arthritis Patients with Hyperuricemia. J Rheumatol. 2018;45(2):213-7.
- 192. Ruffilli I, Ragusa F, Benvenga S, et al. Psoriasis, Psoriatic Arthritis, and Thyroid Autoimmunity. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne). 2017;8:139.
- 193. Fallahi P, Ferrari SM, Ruffilli I, et al. Increased incidence of autoimmune thyroid disorders in patients with psoriatic arthritis: a longitudinal follow-up study. Immunol Res. 2017;65(3):681-6.
- 194. Grossman JM, Gordon R, Ranganath VK, et al. American

College of Rheumatology 2010 recommendations for the prevention and treatment of glucocorticoidinduced osteoporosis. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2010;62(11):1515-26.

- 195. Madanagobalane S, Anandan S. The increased prevalence of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease in psoriatic patients: a study from South India. Australas J Dermatol. 2012;53(3):190-7.
- 196. Boey O, Van Hooland S, Woestenburg A, Van der Niepen P, Verbeelen D. Methotrexate should not be used for patients with end-stage kidney disease. Acta Clin Belg. 2006;61(4):166-9.
- 197. Zhang X, Donnan PT, Bell S, Guthrie B. Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug induced acute kidney injury in the community dwelling general population and people with chronic kidney disease: systematic review and metaanalysis. BMC Nephrol. 2017;18(1):256.
- 198. Gerriets V, Goyal A, Khaddour K. Tumor Necrosis Factor Inhibitors. StatPearls. Treasure Island (FL)2022.
- 199. Chung ES, Packer M, Lo KH, Fasanmade AA, Willerson JT, Anti TNFTACHFI. Randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled, pilot trial of infliximab, a chimeric monoclonal antibody to tumor necrosis factor-alpha, in patients with moderate-to-severe heart failure: results of the anti-TNF Therapy Against Congestive Heart Failure (ATTACH) trial. Circulation. 2003;107(25):3133-40.
- 200. McGonagle DG, McInnes IB, Kirkham BW, Sherlock J, Moots R. The role of IL-17A in axial spondyloarthritis and psoriatic arthritis: recent advances and controversies. Ann Rheum Dis. 2019;78(9):1167-78.
- 201. Bonifati C, Lora V, Graceffa D, Nosotti L. Management of psoriasis patients with hepatitis B or hepatitis C virus infection. World J Gastroenterol. 2016;22(28):6444-55.
- 202. Al Rayes H, Alazmi M, Attar S, et al. Consensus-based recommendations on the diagnosis, referral and clinical management of patients with psoriatic arthritis. Rheumatol Int. 2022;42(3):391-401.

Emirates Society for Rheumatology



CONTACT US

K.I.T. Group Middle East FZ LLC PO BOX 77893 Abu Dhabi, UAE Email: esrmeeting@esr.ae Website: www.esr.ae